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Training Director, RISE, Angeline Mntauban, Parent;
Caitlin Becker, MS. W, Mnaging D rector, Social Wrk
Practice, The Bronx Defenders

Al an Sputz, Esqg., Deputy Conm ssioner, New York City
Adm nistration for Children’ s Services

Panel Attorneys Panel: Rhonda Wir, Esqg., Association of
Private Court Assigned Counsel, Appellate Division,
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Second Departnent; Brian Zi mrerman, Esqg., President,
Associ ation of Private Court Assigned Counsel, Kings
County; Ronald Fisher, Esq., Bronx Fam |y Court Bar
Associ ati on

NYC Contract Provider Panel: Mchelle Burrell, Esg.,

Nei ghbor hood Def ender Service of Harlem Tehra Coles,
Esq., Litigation Supervisor, & Hope Newt on, Parent
Advocate, Center for Famly Representation; Lisa

Schrei bersdorf, Esq., Executive Director, and Lauren
Shapiro, Esq., Famly Defense Practice Director, Brooklyn
Def ender Services; Emma Ketteringham Esq., Managi ng
Director, Famly Defense Practice, The Bronx Defenders

Donestic Viol ence Panel: Barbara Kryszko, Esq., Director,
Br ookl yn Legal Project, Famly Justice Center, Sanctuary
for Famlies; Nancy Erikson, Esq., private attorney
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Pr oceedi ngs

JUDGE PETERS. Good norning. Wl cone to the
Appel l ate Division First Departnent. |'m Karen Peters,
Chair of the Conm ssion on Representation. Wth ne today
on the bench are nenbers of the comm ssion, the Honorable
Jeanette Ruiz, Admnistrative Judge of New York City
Fam |y Court; the Honorable Gayl e Roberts, judge of the
Bronx Fam |y Court and acting Suprenme Court Judge; and
Prof essor Marty Guggenhei m of NYU School of Law.

Est abl i shed by Chief Judge Janet DI Fiore, we
are tasked with exam ning the current state of mandated
representation and issuing a report by the end of this
year recommendi ng structural, adm nistrative, and
|l egislative reforns to ensure a high-quality
cost-effective parental representation systemfor our
st at e.

This hearing, the second of four that we are
hol di ng across the state, will assist us in acquiring
rel evant information from governnent officials,
institutional providers, assigned counsel prograns and
attorneys, clients, and other stakehol ders.

Qur ultimate objective is to provide a
bl ueprint for how our state can strengthen the quality
and efficiency of Famly Court representation to ensure
the fairness and effectiveness of our entire Famly Court

Justice System
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Pr oceedi ngs

Before we hear fromthe first witness, 1'd |ike
to publicly acknow edge the presence of and express ny
sincere and continuing appreciation for the extraordi nary
contributions of Ms. Janet Fink, counsel to the
Conmi ssi on, assisted by Ms. Shane Hegarty and our speci al
advi sor Ms. Angel a Burton.

We're grateful to Justice Rol ando Acosta for
the opportunity to hold this hearing here at the nost
exqui site Appellate Division. Besides the fact that |
was the presenter of the Third Departnment, | can tell you
this is the nost exquisite Appellate D vision of the
state. We're also nost grateful to Susanna Rojas, Chief
Clerk of the Court, attending to all the details for this
event .

As we begin, I'd like to rem nd the w tnesses
who are testifying today that this hearing is being
si mul t aneousl y videocast and that, m ndful of our tine
constraints, testinony nust be confined to the tine
limts we provided to you. | know they are snall, but we
have read all of your witten testi nony before we cane
here today. |1'd appreciate it, to the extent you can, if
you woul d sunmari ze your testinony so as to allow us the
time to dialogue with you concerning the i ssues you have
brought to our attention through your witten docunents.

Now we begi n.
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President MIler, M. Lindenauer, good norning.

M5. LI NDENAUER: Good nor ni ng.

JUDGE PETERS: President MIler, thank you for
taking the tine to cone and testify today. | know how
busy you are.

MR MLLER  Thank you very nuch, your Honor,
Judge Peters, and nenbers of the comm ssion. M nane is
Mchael Mller, I amthe president of the New York State
Bar Association. | amjoined by Susan Li ndenauer, who is
the co-chair of the association's Comrittee on Famlies
and the Law.

On behalf of the association, | want to thank
you, at the top, for the opportunity to appear today on
this very inportant topic. Furthernore, | thank you for
recogni zing the inportance of ensuring the quality of
representation for persons eligible for assigned counsel
in famly law matters.

The New York State Bar Association has |ong
been involved in addressing issues related and affecting
famlies, children, and the law. The conmittees in the
sections in the associati on have prepared nunerous
reports and proposals on these inportant issues which
have been adopted as policy of the association.

Two key reports recently approved by the

association relate to parenting representation and
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Pr oceedi ngs
i ncreasi ng assigned counsel rates. They will likely be
of interest and use to the conm ssion and have been
submtted for the conm ssion's consideration.

First, this past April the Association's House
of Del egates approved a report by the Association's
Committee on Famlies and the Law in support of state
fundi ng and oversi ght of mandated parental representation
provided to indigent parents. The New York State
constitution guarantees the right to counsel to indigent
parents in matters involving fundanental |iberty
interests in the parent-child relationship. |[|ndeed,
hi gh-quality representation is essential to protect
fundanental famlial rights and interests. Wth reform
wel | underway in crimnal defense, simlarly intense
attention desperately needs to be focused on approving
parental representation. W believe that the inportance
of the work of this Comm ssion cannot be overstated in
this regard.

Second, again this past June the Association's
House of Del egates approved a report on the need to
i ncrease assigned counsel rates in New York. The report
states that present hourly rates for assignhed counsel,
whi ch haven't been increased since | was president of the
New York County Lawyer's Association and we successfully

sued to increase those rates nore than 14 years ago --
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Pr oceedi ngs

JUDGE PETERS:. Thank you for that.

MR MLLER -- nust be anmended to reflect
appropri ate conpensati on consistent with the increases
t hat have occurred for the judiciary, elected district
attorneys, and conpensation for assigned counsel in
federal crimnal cases.

On August 15, 2018, our Commttee on Famlies
and the Law submtted its response to the seven topics
that the conm ssion asked to be addressed in its notice
of public hearing. | commend that response to the
conmi ssions review. Today, the focus of ny renmarks deal s
wth one aspect of the response, the structural issues.
If the structural issues are not addressed, nmany of the
fundanment al probl ens that hanper effective and
hi gh-quality representation are likely to continue.

Wt hout addressing the structural issues, the existence
of standards regardi ng representation of parents, which
i ncl ude nunerous issues nore fully discussed in ny
witten testinony, wll, at best, vary fromjurisdiction
to jurisdiction and often will be al nbst nonexi stent.

Even if adequate state funding is provided, the
need for a mechanismto ensure independent
representation, enforce standards, and nonitor
perfornmance remai ns an essential conponent of the

solution, if the quality and availability of parenting
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Pr oceedi ngs
representation is truly going to inprove statew de.

A structural approach to inproving the system
woul d al so recogni ze the existence of a statew de network
of providers of mandated representation for parents.

That recognition is likely to | ead to neani ngf ul

I nteraction and exchange of ideas which would benefit al
provi ders of |egal services to parents, but npst
particularly those in rural or smaller jurisdictions.
Certainly, the existence of a statew de structure woul d
provi de a nechani smfor conveying i nnovati ve approaches
to representation, training, and technology. There are a
nunber of exanples of statew de entities that have
oversight roles regarding the delivery of |egal services
in New York State's courts. The Ofice of Court

Adm ni stration provides this role for the attorney for
the child. It provides nuch of the funding, standard
devel opnent and i npl ementati on and oversi ght throughout
the state for |awers who represent children in the
Fam|ly Court. The New York State O fice of Indigent

Legal Services has been tasked with the oversight,

devel opnent of representation standards, and distribution
of state funding for indigent crimnal defense services.

The O fice of Indigent Legal Services has
al ready undertaken several steps to provi de sone

oversight to parental representation. As it has
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Pr oceedi ngs
devel oped draft standards, standards nodeled in | arge
measure what the New York State Bar Association's
standards for parental representation that were devel oped
by our Committee on mandated representation.

ILS has al so begun to study, on a
county-by-county basis, a financial eligibility for
appoi nt nrent of counsel for parents. Wile the State Bar
is not taking an official position at this time on the
preci se state nmechani sm for oversight of parental
representation, ILS appears to be ideally suited for that
role.

In conclusion, the New York State Bar
Association and its Commttee on Famlies on the Law, the
Committee on Children and the Law and the Conmmittee on
Mandat ed Representati on appl aud t he Comm ssion on
addressi ng these nost inportant issues.

The Association and its Commttees | ook forward
to a continuing dialogue wth the Conmm ssion and, agai n,

t hank you for the opportunity to testify today on this
profoundly inportant matter.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you, M. MIler. Thank
you for comng. | have a question and then I'I|l open it
up to the other panelists for questioning.

You did nention that the transfer children

program the Ofice of Court Adm ni stration provides
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Pr oceedi ngs
services to children, and that ILS has done a great job
in ensuring that we re-create a systemthat provides
appropriate crimnal defense. You also nention you don't
really want to take a position on where we should go from
t here.

Let nme just ask you, do you think a third
agency should be created to address the issues concerning
parental visitation in Famly Court, or shouldn't we take
a |l ook at Indigent Legal Services as the focus for that
opportunity in the future?

MR. MLLER Well, the Association hasn't taken
a position at this tinme. It seens to us that ILSis a
| ogi cal agency, they understand the standards, they
understand the issues involved. But until it is before
our Executive Commttee and House of Del egates, it is not
policy via association. Thus far, our conmittees that
have jurisdiction in this area have indicated very
favorably towards the idea of ILS handling this.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you.

Questions?

Thank you so rmuch for com ng. W appreciate
your opportunity to speak with us.

The next panel is Ms. Vega, Ms. Montauban, and
Ms. Becker. And if | pronounce anyone's nane

incorrectly, | apol ogi ze.
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Pr oceedi ngs

Good norning, M. Vega.

M5. VEGA: Yes, good norni ng.

JUDGE PETERS: We're here to listen.

M5. VEGA: Good norning, Judge Ruiz, Peters,
Roberts, and Professor GQuggenheim M nane is Jeanette
Vega and | amthe training director at Rise. R se is the
organi zation that trains parents to wite and speak about
their experiences with the child welfare system It's
essential for parents to have |egal representation from
t he beginning of the child welfare case in order for us
to nove forward and reunite with our children.

The testinony you will hear today is not just
from Jeanette Vega, it is fromover 200 parents that have
wor ked with Rise and have given us input on this
particular topic. The effect child welfare had on ne
will always stay on nme while | work with this systemfor
reformand to highlight the parents' voi ce.

| amstill traumati zed by those horrible
monents that | thought |I would just die w thout ny own
son. | catch nyself crying when | hear ny babies crying
because when ny son was in care, | could not stop his
crying or even ny own at tinmes. Wen | take ny
3-year-old to school this year and he cries, | cry, and
it takes ne back to that sanme story of not being able to

confort ny children

11
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We can start hel ping other parents before they
face this traumatic experience of separation by having
nore | egal representation for parents facing the child
wel fare systemso that fewer children are renoved.

I want to tell you about the inportance of
| egal representation in all phases of a child welfare
case, fromthe investigation phase when parents currently
have no right to an attorney at that point to the
pre-filing phase when many parents are pushed to settle
when they believe the case against themis unjust, so the
hearing that followed on quality | egal representation can
determine if children can cone back hone or never
actual ly do.

Let me start fromthe begi nning, the
i nvestigation phase. | want to tal k about the reality of
how i nvesti gati ons go and how unjust it actually feels
for parents when there is a call nade to the state
central registry hotline, parents never know who calls in
t hese cases and what intent they call it with. Parents
never get a chance to confront their accusers in any way
inachild welfare case. An attorney should have access
to that individual who nade the call to see what was
behind that call. |[If the parents had | ega
representation fromthis phase of the child welfare

i nvol venent, parents' rights can be protected fromthe
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start. This issue has been going on far too | ong.

Once parents enter the courtroom the nain
thing they feel is powerlessness. Qur life experiences
have often made us feel powerless. Qur experiences with
courts and other authorities |ike school and the police
have al so made us feel powerless. Wen our children are
renoved, we feel the ultimte powerl essness.

The court is a nutual place for us. It's a
pl ace where we feel intense shanme, stigma, anger, and
sadness. It's a place where we feel it's biased agai nst
us parents. Parents do not understand the court process
or what all parties involved are. Renenber, these people
are maki ng deci sions about famlies, and they do not even
know us.

Too many attorneys don't get any tine with
parents at all. Five mnutes before court to have a
brief discussion on what the attorney wll say about ny
famly's situation. QOher tinmes, there's no tine to prep
because the attorneys have too many cases and are junping
fromone case to the next case.

The first day | went to court felt so horrible
for me. | walked in, I was scared and confused, but it
took a long tine for ne to learn that ny anger was maki ng
t he agency see ne as soneone who woul d sol ve probl ens

with violence and that nmade ne think that they couldn't
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trust ne with ny own son. But that is what nost parents
facing the child welfare systemfeel -- anger, rage,
fear, defeat -- as soon as they enter that courtroom
When parents' attorneys have no tinme for us, then parents
are seen as just another case, just |ike a substance
abuse parents, Oh, here goes another angry parent, when
what nost parents feel is that a piece of their heart has
been taken away, their children.

One of the nost troubling things that play out
in court is when attorneys push parents to settling.
Sonetinmes our | awers evaluate our case and decide that a
settlenment is the best choice. Wen parents don't have a
full conversation with their |awers about the deci sion,
they don't understand what's happening, and they sign
anyway because their attorney who they spoke to for five
m nutes said that was the best decision at this point.

Lawyers should not only do for their clients
but help their clients understand the system so they can
do for thenselves. Here's how funding | awers to have
smal | er casel oads nay be effective and beneficial.
Parents get to a |lot of cookie-cutter services at tines,
and attorneys don't have tine to talk to us about what
may be best for our famly's needs.

So how do we create a systemthat parents don't

feel alone or blind-sided by the process? GCetting
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Pr oceedi ngs
quality attorneys a part of having quality service. Wen
parents get quality attorneys, they have the opportunity
to have a voice in their own famly's decisions. Gve
parents a fighting chance against the child welfare
syst em denands.

New York City has invested in nore parent
representation than al nost anyplace else in this country,
and many parents get not only | awers but social workers
and parent advocates through the institutional providers.
That reformin New York City hasn't reached other parts
of the state.

| magi ne being a parent that has never faced the
child wel fare system before and you' re bei ng accused of
bei ng evil, bad, and your one sense of confort is
actual ly gone, your child. The one thing that a parent
t hought coul d never be taken away has been ri pped away
fromyou and put into care of strangers. How intrusive
and violating is that feeling for us. How scary it is to
know or not know where your children are or if they're
even okay. All these feelings that no one ever thinks
about, and they are real feelings , feelings that stay
with us even after our children conme honme, even after
therapy for years, that trauma will never go away.

Wien | was 19, ny son was 2 and | lost ny son

to the child welfare systemfor three whole years. The
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day ny son was renoved, | was treated as a crimnal.
wasn't given a chance to explain nyself. | wasn't asked
what happened. | was just thrown behind bars. It felt
like I was being seen |like a nonster. | felt alone and
scared and felt |ike everyone was just telling ne what to
do, and ny attorney was al so just going through the
notions of the process. How !l wish | had tine to tell ny
attorney who | was before the child welfare got involved,
maybe then he would have also felt as if he wasn't
representing a nonster. He could have understood ne and
my culture, ny background, how | was a great nother

before that one incident ruined ny life for three whole

years.
| have found ny voice years after ny son cane

home. | joined a parent advocacy group where | felt |

can speak freely and not be judged. | also joined R se

and | use the witing process to reflect on ny
experi ences and becone an advocate of voice for all the
parents facing the choppy rivers. Attorneys can be part
of this voice exchange. Gving parents a chance to have
quality representation is not only justice, but it is
humane.

There is a big highlight on the borders and the
famlies being separated there, but the sane trauna

affects all parents that have to face a renoval or even
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the threat of a renoval for not conplying with what the
systemfeels that your famly may need.

Ri se parents asks you to give parents a
fighting chance with nore representation for famlies so
t hey can stay together and get assistance that they need.
You nmay have the power to help all those thousands of
parents that need your help.

Thank you so nmuch for listening to a parent's
per spective today.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you. W may have sone
questions, but we want the rest of the panel to speak
first. Thank you very nuch.

Ms. Mont auban.

M5. MONTAUBAN: My nane is Angel i ne Mont auban
and | am pl eased to have the opportunity to come here to
testify.

To ny experience comng in contact with ACS,
New York County Famly Court, 18-B attorneys and foster
care agencies, | have realized the entire systemis a
failure. | have been in and out of New York County
Fam ly Court since the year 2013 to 2018. M son was in
foster care for six years. | have been a strong advocate
for me and ny son amdst a climate that was unkind to
parents. | have been very vocal about ny experience wth

the foster care system and ny experience in New York
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County Famly Court.

Si nce the purpose of this hearing is to address
the quality of mandated parental |egal representation,
will say that ny representation was never of quality. |
was represented by 18-B attorney, who | have found to be
highly ineffective. As a concerned parent, | nade it ny
per sonal busi ness to educate nyself of the process and
| earn that the systemwas set up for nme to fail. The
systemwas naturally set up for parents and their
children to fail in Famly Court, and | personally found
that to be the truth.

For the last six years while ny son was in
foster care, | found that because | was intelligent and
educat ed and questi oned and chal | enged the status quo,
reasons were fabricated to keep ny son in foster care.
Reasons and orders that were never chall enged by ny
attorney. | know that the purpose of this hearing is to
| ook at the quality and effectiveness of parental | egal
representation. | think it is nore necessary to | ook at
the statistics and to question why 90 percent of parents
are losing in their fact finding and TPR cases. This is
a larger systemc failure. It is absolutely
counter-effective to look at a small segnent of the
probl em wi t hout | ooking at the bigger picture.

About six years ago, | realized ACS' s power in
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Fam |y Court and realized that ACS, as a city agency, ran
and controlled the showin Famly Court. Famly Court
are appoi nted by the nayor and the mayor controls the
Admi ni stration of Children Services. It is popular
know edge that nopst judges are scared of ACS and nost are
concerned -- not concerned about neeting the best
interest of children and famlies.

I will state that the 18-B parental
representation is a 100 percent failure. |In my personal
opi nion, 18-B attorneys, they lack the institutional
know edge and support to assist parents in Article 10
cases.

In ny six years in Famly Court, | have made
nunerous attenpts not only to recuse New York County
Fam ly Court judges on ny case, but to disnmss ny
attorneys who nostly view thensel ves as enpl oyees of the
court systemthan advocates for the parents. Most
parents who are subject to Article 10 cases are
dissatisfied wwth their | egal representation

The truth of the matter is, npbst of the parents
affected are set up for failure. This is a systemthat
has survived under conplete exploitation of parents and
their children. Due to ny advocacy and criticismof the
systemin place, a TPR was filed against ne, and ny son

was kept in foster care for six years. |t seened that
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ACS was runni ng the show and di ctated what was happeni ng
and what woul d be happening with ny case. M attorneys
failed to effectively and aggressively represent ne and
to advocate on ny behalf in court.

I have heard wonderful things about Bronx
Def enders and Br ookl yn Defenders, but, unfortunately, |
was not fortunate to be represented by a network. So ny
goal is that 18-B attorneys should not be considered for
Article 10 cases. | think the lack of effective parental
representation is one of the main reason why ny son was
kept in foster care for over siXx years.

Since | have nostly been in contact with 18-B
attorneys -- | am speaking froma first-person
perspective -- the systemin place is broken. | don't
speak for nyself but for the thousands of parents who
were wonged by their public defenders. | do believe in
a networ k nodel consisting of social workers, parent
advocates who can work to a social justice |engths.

Due to ny contact with the foster care system
and ny interaction with foster care agencies , | have
| ost respect for social workers who, fromny point of
view, act as agents of the systemthat oppresses children
and their famlies. | think we need to start thinking
about social justice-mnded | egal representation and

social justice-m nded social workers. They are literally
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getting paid for doing nothing. There is no
accountability. There is no review of their perfornmance.
There is not a parent survey or platformfor parents to
address serious violations. Matter of fact, | have found
that Fam |y Court judges encourage these attorneys to go
on with the natural flow of things.

My entire experience in Famly Court can be
sumred up in one sentence: An orchestrated attenpt by
both the judge and ny 18-B attorney to silence ne.

| hope this is not another hearing set up
because every ten years this commttee nust hold hearings
to show that they are taking steps to inprove parent
| egal representation. | hope this is not just another
show.

| do want to thank the parents for their silent
outcry in and out of Famly Court.

W need real tangi ble changes and real results.
The i nprovenent shoul d be neasurabl e and the attorney
representing famlies should be held accountable. If we
can hol d doctors and teachers accountable, we should be
able to hold 18-B attorneys accountable. But nost
inportantly, | hope the culture of fear can be addressed
and dealt with because | have wondered if ny attorneys
have sinply been afraid of challenging the status quo.

In an environnent where all agents are | ooking
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out for their best interest, the interest of children and
their famlies are ignored. | think it is inportant for
parents' w shes and voices to be heard in Fam |y Court
because we have been largely ignored. W cannot attenpt
to fix parental |egal representation unit w thout | ooking
at the entire system as a whol e.

Thank you, again, for this opportunity.

In ways | think we can begin to inprove the
systemis by providing parent surveys so parents can
survey. That is sonething that does not exist. Al so,
nor e supervision of 18-B attorneys.

JUDGE PETERS:. Thank you so nmuch. | thank you
for com ng here today and speaking candidly to us.

Before | go to the next speaker, | can tell you
that this conm ssion does have a parent survey and an
attorney survey in which all parents can conplete a form
about how their representati on has gone and concerns they
have. Thanks to Angel a Burton over there who has created
it. It's online. |If you want to speak with Angela and
find out how to access it at the end of the hearing,
we'll be happy to do that. Yes, we are concerned about
what parents are saying. This conm ssion intends to
listen to them Thank you for being one of the people
we' ve had the opportunity to listen to today.

(Conti nued on the next page.)
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M5. BECKER: Good norni ng, Judge Ruiz, Judge
Roberts, Judge Peters and Professor Guggenheim My
name is Caitlin Becker. |'mthe managi ng director of
social work at the Bronx Defenders. | oversee an
interdisciplinary team of parent advocates and soci al
wor kers working with attorneys representing parents in
famly court. | thank the comm ssion for this
i nportant work, and | am honored to be offering
testinony today followi ng the real experts, Jeannette
and Angeline. | have had the privilege of hearing
stories like theirs everyday for the past seven years.
The firsthand experience of parents and chil dren whose
i ves have been profoundly inpacted by this systens
intervention nmust renain at the center of any reform
effort.

Qur witten testinony, and that of many
ot hers nakes the argunent that social workers and
parent advocates on a defense teamare critical to
robust parental representation. W provide exanpl es of
cases where social workers and parent advocates worki ng
with attorneys nmade the difference in keeping famlies
toget her or safely bringing children home. | join our
col | eagues across the state in reconmmendi ng a system
for all attorneys, whether institutional providers,

assi gned panel attorneys, or contract attorneys to have
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seanl ess access to social workers and parent advocates
as part of their defense teamfromthe earliest nonents
in the case. | hope to address the question of what
makes soci al workers and parent advocates on a defense
teamdifferent than their social work coll eagues in the
child protective system

A question was raised in the hearing in
Rochester. If we lowered child protective case worker
casel oad, or trained themdifferently, or required a
masters in social work, could they do the work that our
parent advocates and social workers do on behal f of
parents?

The adm nistration for Children Services has
in fact made great efforts to | ower case | oads across
the system They have a nunber of well-trained masters
| evel social workers working with parents and famlies.
But even if a case worker had just one case and years
of training, he or she could not replace a parent
advocate or a social worker who is part of the defense
team W have a fundanentally different role. W are
accountable, first and forenost, to the parents that we
serve. Qur collaboration with attorneys makes parent
def ense stronger for the famlies that we represent.

Whi l e case workers are required to make

efforts that are consi dered reasonabl e under the | aw,
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parent advocates and social workers, nmenbers of a | egal
teamthat owe a duty of loyalty and are accountable to
the parents are trained and notivated to go well beyond
reasonabl e efforts.

When the parent is your client and directing
your representation, handing over a referral, or naking
a phone call, or leaving a voicemail is sinply not
sufficient, especially for parents who are experiencing
the deep despair that |I've borne witness to and that
Jeannette and Angeli ne descri bed today, countless tines
over the years.

Jeannette and Angel i ne spoke about the fear,
the anger, the rage, the defeat that parents feel as
they navigate the system The expression of that fear,
that rage, that those feelings of despair to a case
wor ker has inplications for how their case will unfold
and whether they will ever get their children back.

What parents express to case workers, however

well -trained and wel | -intentioned those case workers
are gets witten down and becones a part of the record
that is used against themin their case.

The case worker enbodies a duality under the
law that makes it inpossible for themto replace an
advocate who is part of the defense team The case

worker is the wtness against the parent, the one who
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m ght have taken her children away, and who gat hered
evi dence agai nst her, and presented it to the court in
a petition. She is the person who docunents all of the
parent's weaknesses, doubts, and worries in routine
reports to the court. That naybe her job, but it is an
I npossible task to rebuild the trust that is broken
t hrough this process.

Soci al workers and parent advocates who work
with attorneys can develop trust that will help a
parent identify the core issues that |ed them before
the court. W have the ability to help attorneys do
what Jeannette and Angeline nentioned is so critical,
to slow down, to listen, to fight for parents, even in
the mdst of crushing casel oads and chaotic days.

Soci al workers and parent advocates, because
of their training and experience listen differently
than attorneys do. W're trained to identify the
trauma, spot the synptons of depression or anxiety,
notivate a parent struggling with addiction to seek
support. That training and expertise is critical to
hel pi ng parents truly represent parents and famlies.

Def ense social workers and parent advocates
al so have a deep know edge of the resources that are
avai lable in the community and are trained to provide

i ndi vidual i zed assessnents, and identify services
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responsive to the needs that parents identify for
t hensel ves and for their children. Jeannette talked
about the inportance of elevating a parent's voice in
this process because the experience of appearing in
court often | eaves them feeling powerless and sil enced.

When advocates go where attorneys cannot go
to nmeetings convened by the child protective agency, we
are able to elevate a parent's voice. |'ve been at
nmeetings at foster care agencies with hundreds of
parents where there are ten or 12 or sonetines nore
representatives froma foster care agency speaking
about ny client and her children as though they are the
experts on her famly. It is an intimdating space for
many parents to enter. The feeling of judgnent that
Jeannette descri bed extends well beyond the courtroom
and into these agencies where |ife-changi ng deci sions
about famlies are made.

In these neetings parents often feel al one
and m sunder stood. Social workers and parent advocates
can hel p a parent summon the courage to offer her own
expertise as a parent about what her children need.

And because we are on a legal teamand aware what is
happening in the court, social workers and parent
advocat es can work to advance the case, especially in

t he permanency phase when court dates are infrequent
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and the real work happens in the community. Wen
visits aren't happening, we can figure out why and work
with the agency and the parents to negotiate a
solution. Wen a parent has a chall engi ng experience
wth a case worker or a foster parent we can hel p get
to the bottomof that conflict and find a protective
way forward. Wien there are set backs in treatnent, we
can identify alternative providers. Wen things are
going well, we can gather the information necessary to
nove forward between court dates, to nove from
supervi sed to unsupervised visits so that we can make
nmeani ngful strides towards reunification when we are
back before the court. W have the opportunity to
re-i mage what parent defense | ooks like in New York
St at e.

Let's build a system where every parent has
access to a team of advocates with varied skill-sets
and life experience. A systemthat recognizes the deep
and profound | oss that parents are facing when they
wal k in the courtroom A systemthat gives famlies
every opportunity to remain together and strong and
never wal k through our doors again.

Thank you.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

Questions?

28
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HON. RUZ: | want to thank all the paneli st,
in particular Ms. Vega for your powerful testinony. |
have to say this is hard being a statenent judge in the
famly court to hear you tal k about your experience and
the judges. That said, um | did want to ask you
about, |I think it was you, Ms. Vega, not sure
Ms. Mont auban, made the point of the consideration that
you want the comm ssion to consider appointing counsel
earlier in the process than the first appearance in
famly court. | wondered if you could just tell ne a
little nore about how you think that woul d be
beneficial .

M5. VEGA: After | did alittle focus group
at work and spoke to parents who had the investigation
phase of a child welfare case and they felt so
defeated. You have people comng into your honme and
they are so intrusive, they cone in, tell you what they
are going to do, what you are going to do wth your
famly, and unless, you know, you are privil eged and
have noney to afford a private attorney, you don't get
that. Well, regular parents wouldn't get that
opportunity to have any kind of representation at that
point, and that is the nost critical point of a child
wel fare case, because before it goes to court, these

wor kers are investigating and, |ike, talking to people
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and just going within your community, talking to your
nei ghbors, your children's school, their doctors. It
is so intrusive and as a parent you don't know what you
can and cannot do at this point in tinme of a case, and
it is just frustrating that we cannot go to the court,
and say like this is happening, child welfare is
intruding in ny life, and you cannot get assi stance,
like | said, unless you can afford a private attorney.
So | think it is so inportant for attorneys to be part
of that phase because they can speak up for parents.
They can, they can be such limted renovals from
chil dren because attorneys can say what are the
all egations? How can we fix this before there is
renmoval ? And there can be a conversation between our
attorneys and whoever nmade the call, or the ACS
i nvestigator at that point to see what can be done
rat her than have a renoval.

Sonetines at that phase, if ACS, child
wel fare systemfeels that there is a safety concern or
a risk of safety which drives ne a little crazy, that
word risk of safety, because that is in case sonething
is going to happen to ny child, they have the authority
to renove ny child wthout ne having any representation
at this point, and you have no say so. It is just |ike

t hey renove your kids and you figure it out in court
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and no one explains to you why your child was really
renoved for exact reasons. It is always a safety issue
or safety risk, and parents don't understand that.
Most parents, they get child wel fare cases cone from
| ow i ncone, poverty communities, and poverty is |ooked
at as neglect in the child welfare system That is a
scary thing to think of that because you are poor you
m ght | ose your children, or because you are bl ack or
Spani sh or Hispanic, you |ose your children because of
the community or environnment that you live in and we
have no one to defend us or speak up at this point.
And that is what starts these three to six year cases.
So we get representation at this point, we can
elimnate so nmuch. Parents can get so nmuch services
that are quality services that they need, they can go
within their communities with their attorney or their
team of advocates and social workers to say we can fiXx
this. There is no need for renoval unless -- trust ne,
| understand there are parents that hurt their children
and renoval s are necessary at tines, but the majority
of parents love their children and never intentionally
hurt their children. And if we understand that from
the investigati on phase of the case, and we have t hat
representation with parents, parents will feel powerful

enough to say this is the situation that ny famly is
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facing, how can we fix it rather than having your child
renoved for years and years and you're traunatized. It
i s sonet hing you never get over. | nean, 15 years
later, and like | said, ny three year old went to
school | ast weekend. The crying, it drives nme crazy.

| don't know how to control the crying. Wen ny ol dest
was in foster care, so the school is |ike he has to go
to school and I"'mlike, no, he's crying, I'"mgoing to
take himhonme. It is difficult for ne as a parent to
let go and he is crying and not be able to confort him

So | think a lot of parents need this in this
I nvesti gati on phase because of the protection that we
will give alot of famlies and comunities that are
not representative to their full power.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

HON. RU Z: Thank you.

M5. MONTAUBAN: If | may add on?

HON. RU Z: Yes.

HON. PETERS. Sorry?

M5. MONTAUBAN: If | may add on?

HON. PETERS: | was going to ask you
guestions. Maybe you can answer ny question and add
on?

M5. MONTAUBAN. Would you |like nme to answer

Ms. Ruiz' question?
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HON. PETERS: Yes, go right ahead.

M5. MONTAUBAN: Just so | can add on in terns
of the process, once ACS cones into your life, they
have |i ke 60 days to investigate, and in ny approach to
seeing that, they are literally prosecuting you. They
are comng into your life, they are finding reasons why
they are in your life. They are finding reasons why
they shoul d keep your child in foster care basically.
There are -- we have to undergo, like, child safety
conference, and | was told during that conference, that
I's when they are naking deci sion whether or not they
are going to renove our children froma custody, so
they are nmaking very pivotal decisions even before the
case, you know, goes into famly court. They are
meki ng a | ot of decisions about us and | think it is
necessary for us to have an attorney at the begi nning
of that process. Like | said before, they are
literally prosecuting us.

In ny experience, the reason why they took ny
child, they had a reason for taking ny child into
foster care. It took them about two years to start the
fact finding process. By the fact-finding process, |
nmean it was not even about the reason why they took ny
child in the first place. The fact-finding process was

dealing with other reasons that they fabricated. So |
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think it is very inportant for us to be protected from
t he begi nning, because | felt |ike these people com ng
into ny life was trying to dig up dirt on nme for 60
days basically. They were aggressively trying to find
reasons, one, why are we going to take her child, and
what reasons can we fabricate to keep her child in
foster care.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

M5. MONTAUBAN: Yeah.

HON. PETERS:. You nentioned when you
testified --

M5. MONTAUBAN:  Yes.

HON. PETERS: -- that when you had your case
in court you were represented by an 18B attorney.

MS. MONTAUBAN:  Yes.

HON. PETERS: Who you described to us as
I neffective.

M5. MONTAUBAN:  Yes.

HON. PETERS: Lacking institutional
know edge.

MS. MONTAUBAN:  Yes.

HON. PETERS: Can you explain to ne first
whet her the attorney was avail abl e when you wanted to
call himor her to talk about your case?

M5. MONTAUBAN. Um well, let ne just say
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|'"ve had not just one 18B attorney. One was di sm ssed,
so I've had multiple 18B attorneys. |1'mnot going to
go i nto nanes.

HON. PETERS: |[|'m not aski ng nanes.

M5. MONTAUBAN: Yeah, because one was better
than the other, so | want to be fair. So to -- sorry,
your question?

HON. PETERS: M/ question was, when you
want ed to comruni cate with the attorney concerni ng your
case, were they avail able either by phone or for a
nmeeti ng?

M5. MONTAUBAN: Most of the tines we didn't
have their phone nunbers. So if | needed to

communi cate with her, it would basically be through

e-mails. | don't think they give the phone nunbers or
their cell phone nunbers to any of the parents. It
woul d be through e-nmail, and then nost of the tines the

parents woul d basically talk with them before the case
five or ten mnutes before the case.

HON. PETERS: So if you e-numil ed your
attorney, did you get a response?

M5. MONTAUBAN: Um many tinmes | would get a
response, but maybe the response is that, not the
response | felt I was entitled to, yeah.

HON. PETERS: And you nentioned that from
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your prospective 18B attorneys |ack institutional
know edge; can you tell ne what you nean by that?

M5. MONTAUBAN: By that | nean we have ot her
networks |i ke Bronx Defenders, Brooklyn Defenders.
They have a team I|like Ms. Caitlin stated, of soci al
wor kers, parent advocates. | nean, they've been doing
it for years, basically, and they understand the system
in and out, and | just feel, in ny opinion, a |lot of
the times the 18B' s attorneys, maybe they are not going
t hrough the proper professional devel opnent, the proper
wor kshops, or the proper training, and sone instances |
felt I knewa little nore about how t he process should
work and | would nyself offer suggestions to them
just feel, in ny opinion, because they are not part of
that network they just, maybe they m ght just be a
famly court attorney, but just because you are a
famly attorney does not nean you are well-know edged
about Article 10 cases which is a different kind of
case. They are different, you know. | could be an
attorney specializing on divorce, now suddenly I'm
assigned Article 10 case and |I'mnot sure how to nove
forward with that because that is not ny area of
specialty. And | just feel a lot of tinmes there is
t hat goi ng on.

HON. PETERS: Thank you
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M5. MONTAUBAN. kay. |If that makes any
sense.

HON. PETERS: It makes a | ot of sense. Thank
you so rmuch. Appreciate it.

M5. MONTAUBAN. | feel they need to have
specialty in dealing with Article 10 cases.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM | would like to foll ow up,
al so ask Ms. Vega a question, but staying with the two
of you, Ms. Vega, it wasn't made clear, but your |awyer
or |awers were institutional providers?

M5. VEGA: No, | had also an 18B attorney.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM  Now, during the many years
that you were involved with the court system did you
go to conferences with the agencies that were worKking
wi th you?

M5. VEGA: Yes. That is actually what | was
going to include in her coment, that the inportance
and difference in 18B's versus the international
| awyers is that our advocates and social workers are
allowed to attend the famly in conference, safety
conferences in foster care agenci es.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M Let nme ask a coupl e of
speci fic questions.

Dd you attend conferences over the course of

your case?

Monica A Martinez - Senior Court Reporter




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N NN P R R R R R R R R R
o o A W N PP O © 0o N oo 0o A wWwDN B+ O

Pr oceedi ngs

M5, VEGA: Yes.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M How many woul d you say?

M5. VEGA: Every six nmonths we had a famly
team conference, and in between we woul d have pl anni ng
conf er ences.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM  How many woul d that be,
appr oxi mat el y?

M5. VEGA: In a year, | would say --

PROF. GUGGENHEIM Not in a year. The entire
tinme?

M5. VEGA: The case, about 12 to 15
conferences | would say I had within ny three years.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M  Wio attended then?

M5. VEGA: Just ne. | was all alone. At
that point, there was no such thing as advocates.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M Who, if anyone, planned
what you woul d say or do at the conferences?

M5. VEGA: No one. | usually had no voice or
nothing I was allowed to say. The agency would tell ne
what | was going to do, and have ne sign-off on a
service plan, and that is what it was, at that point.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M Sanme question to you,

Ms. Mont auban?
M5. MONTAUBAN: Like |I said, | had an 18B

attorney. | didn't have a social worker.
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PROF. GQUGGENHEI M Advocat e?

MS. MONTAUBAN:  Yes.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M How nmany conferences did
you have?

M5. MONTAUBAN: About twelve to 18
conf er ences.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM  How many tinmes did you
attend with a professional working with you at your
si de?

M5. MONTAUBAN. Most of the tine, | would say
a hundred percent of the tinmes | attended by nysel f.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM  How nmany tinmes did soneone

consult with you about what to say, what to do, what to

seek?

MS. MONTAUBAN:  Never.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M Ms. Becker?

M5. BECKER:  Yes.

PROF. GQUGGENHEIM Do you have a reaction to
t hat ?

M5. BECKER: As Judge Ruiz said, it is very
di sheartening to hear about the experience Ms. Vega and
Ms. Mont auban descri bed about their being al one, and we
have a team of 19 parent advocates and social workers
at Bronx Defenders who attended | ast year al nost a

t housand conferences wth parents, what Jeannette and
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Angel i ne describe is not a typical 12 to 18 to 20
conferences over the years in one case.

We al so have the opportunity to do sone early
defense and early advocacy for parents during the
i nvestigati on stage, and we have found exactly what
Jeannette describes, that it is oftentinmes during the
i nvestigation stage, parents are afraid to share
information, are afraid to say what is really going on,
and when they have the benefit of an advocate with them
and a |l awer advising them we're able to often clear
up m sinformation, devel op safety plans, get famly and
friends in the comunity involved to wap around and
support a famly and allow themto remain together. It
makes a remarkabl e difference, and | hope that that is
what the conm ssion will consider going forward.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

Any questions?

PROF. GUGGENHEIM  Your witten testinony
goes into nore things than you do than attend
conf erences?

MS. BECKER:  Sure.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM Wth your clients?

MS5. BECKER:  Yes.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM Um vyou've been to school s

to participate IEP in these neetings?
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M5. BECKER: Yes. W are sort of everywhere
with our clients and the parents that we represent at
school neetings, |EP neetings, honme visits, neetings at
the agency in court because of the terror that parents
experience wal king into the courtroom Sonetines it is
about having a parent advocate or a social worker there
to insure a parent's voice is heard, to insure they
under stand what is going on to have the neetings with
| awyers. So the work we do in the comunity extends
far beyond attending conferences. | think Jeannette
menti oned the cookie-cutter services that | think we
are all well aware of. Qur approach is different and
we sit with parents and ask them what do they think
they need, what do they think their famly needs, and
it is often advocacy with shelter, or getting a public
assi stance case back on, or getting the children the
services that wll really address the needs that they
have.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M Thank you.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

Thank you all very nuch.

As the next panel approaches, not as a panel,
l"msorry, M. Sputz, | would like to note and express
nmy appreciation Ms. -- one of our comm ssioners, raise

your hand, for being with us today. Thank you so nuch.
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And Ms. Lindau, also a conm ssioner, thank you so nuch

M. Sputz, good norning. Did | say that
correctly?

MR. SPUTZ: Yes, good norning.

Good nmorning Chair Peters, and nenbers of the
conm ssi on, parental |egal representation, Judge Rui z,
Judge Roberts, Professor GQuggenheim |'m Al an Sputz,
Deputy Conm ssioner of the Division of Famly Court
Legal Services within the New York City Adm nistration
for Children Services, ACS

Thank you for this opportunity to be part of
the comm ssion's hearing on the inportant topic of
parental /| egal representation.

ACS is the | ocal Departnent of Soci al
Services that oversees the child welfare, juvenile
justice and early care and education services in New
York Gty. Wthin ACS, Dvision of Famly Court Legal
Services, (FCLS) is responsible for representing ACS in
chil d negl ect and abuse cases, pernanency heari ngs,
juvenil e delinquency hearings and other child welfare
proceedings in the New York City Famly Courts.

HON. PETERS: A little | ouder for ne.

MR, SPUTZ: Sure.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

MR SPUTZ: FCLS attorneys work
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col |l aboratively with Child Protective Specialist, (CPS)
of the Division of Child Protection, (DCP) foster care
agency case planners, and other child welfare
st akehol ders to further the agency's m ssion on behal f
of children, youth and famlies. Attorneys provide
| egal representation and consultation to CPS and foster
care agency staff, and FCLS s Central units support the
wor k of the division by providing training for
attorneys and social work staff on Fam |y Court
practice; offering adm nistrative, technol ogy, and
techni cal support; and coll aborating with other ACS
di visions in external stakehol ders.

In addition to providing strong in-court
advocacy, FCLS ains to work collaboratively with its
child wel fare partners, including the attorneys who
represent parents in famly court proceedings, to
achi eve the | arger agency goals of safety, pernanency
and wel | -being for each child and famly served at ACS.

ACS' testinony to the comm ssion reflects our
deep experience working within the New York City Fam |y
Court system We have worked closely on a daily basis
with attorneys within the institutional providers'
offices, as well as nenbers of the assigned counsel
panel. Overall, the expert collaboration of these

practitioners on individual cases expedites results
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that | ead to qui cker permanency outcones for children.
In particular, institutional provider nodel |ends
itself to providing broader and nore significant
wr aparound services due to the organi zati onal
structure, holistic practice nodel, and availability of
case supports. ACS witten testinony, we detai
exanpl es of the coll aboration that serves to enhance
case outcones, and note that the work is strengthened
when assi gned counsel al so have access to soci al
wor ker s.

These exanples include referrals for
servi ces, gathering docunents, and assisting parents to
obtain stabl e housing, |ocating resources for placenent
and visiting, participating in permanency planning
conf erences, obtaining docunentation from service
provi ders, hel ping prepare parents as witnesses in
court, ease of communi cation between social workers and
ACS foster care agency staff, coll aboration to expedite
productively utilized court appearances, assistance in
mnimzing trauma, if necessary, when there are in
court renovals with famlies, information sharing prior
to notion practice or filing of petitions.

Additionally, ACS routinely participates
I nt er -agency wor kgroups and conferences with

institutional providers and assigned counsel, nenbers
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of the assigned counsel panel, including commttees
that discuss issues such as nental health, substance
abuse, donestic violence, nedical consent, |egislation
to benefit children, and ACS policy formation regarding
visitation and permanency. G oup discussions often
result in new projects or systemc initiatives that we
bel i eve benefit children and famlies.

Wiile there are many strengths within the
exi sting New York Gty system ACS has a few
recommendati ons for areas of further opportunity to
support this work.

One, expansion of successful nodels for high
quality representation. ACS supports a full continuum
of access to counsel to nake sure that parents' voices
are well-represented in the system and that parents
recei ve high quality, professional representation in
famly court matters on individual cases, as well as to
systemcal ly enhance the safety of children in support
for famlies within New York Gty.

In consultation with other counties, the
Commi ssi on shoul d expl ore expansi on of the existing New
York Gty nodels, institutional provider nodels to
increase the availability of attorneys and rel ated
wr apar ound supports when cases are filed in famly

court.
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Two, social worker support for attorney.
Institutional provider nodels in which institutiona
provi ders social workers teamw th the attorneys to
provide holistic representation for the client, works
to ensure highly effective assistance to the parent,
optimal comunication with ACS social work staff, and
the sharing of conprehensive and conplete information
anong the parties and the Court. Wen assigned counsel
fromthe panel engages the support of a social worker
paid for by the Court under the County Law, the results
are simlar.

ACS encourages the Ofice of Court
Adm nistration to seek to expand the pool of social
wor kers who are avail able to be appointed by the Court
pursuant to the County Law to assi st assigned counsel
in representing a parent.

Three, joint trainings for practitioners.

ACS often shares training opportunities
wthin our famly court -- with our famly court
col | eagues on inportant topics like inmgration issues,
per manency, medi cati on and housi ng.

W bel i eve enhancing the expertise of
attorneys across the Famly Court systemis benefici al
to the systemas a whole, and we encourage al

st akehol ders to consi der additional opportunities to
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strengt hen trai ning and know edge- shari ng.

Four, tinmely access to counsel.

Early di scussi ons anong counsel produce
benefits such as identifying potential famly
resources, formulating feasible visiting arrangenents,
and enhanci ng productive outcones of first court
appearance so that initial rel ease or repl acenent
orders are based on full and accurate information.

We urge the Comm ssion to consider whether
changes are needed to the confidentiality provisions of
the Social Services Law or Court Rules that would all ow
the sharing of certain informati on about newl y-fil ed
cases With appropriate institutional providers and/or
assi gned counsel on the day of filing, so that counsel
that expect to be appointed to represent respondents
may have neani ngful and productive di scussions with
their intended clients prior to the first court
appear ance.

Thank you, again for this opportunity to
di scussing quality representation for parents in famly
court, the availability of institutional providers, and
assi gned counsel to represent parents in famly court
produces neasurabl e benefits for the children and
famlies we all serve. W appreciate the Conmssion's

review of this inportant topic, and we | ook forward to
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ongoi ng col |l aboration with the Comm ssion and with our
partners in this work.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

Questions, judge?

HON. ROBERTS: Yes. Could you expand upon
what you neant when you were tal king about the
confidentiality laws and what lawis it, and how woul d
you want to see it expanded?

MR. SPUTZ: Sure. | believe it falls within
the Social Services Law 422. Probably outside of the
Conmi ssion, | could provide further clarification
afterward. But essentially, ACSis |limted in sharing
information with other individuals about the substance
of a case before an attorney is appointed. Once the
attorney is appointed by the court to represent a
parent, then we can share the confidential informtion
about the case. And so, ny -- our experience has been
that intake in famly court in New York Gty can be a
sort of hectic environnment in trying to file the cases
that CPS are bringing, and parents' attorneys are ready
to represent parents, but we can't speak to the parents
until they are actually appointed by the court, the
attorneys until they are actually appointed by the
court about the cases, and so we think that if there is

a way to expand when ACS can provide that infornation
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on a day we know we're going to be filing the case with
respect to a parent, and we're in famly court, that we
can share the information

HON. PETERS:. You nentioned getting counsel
earlier. | assunme you heard the testinony of the
parents who spoke earlier.

What i s your position on having counsel
avai l abl e to individuals before the filing of petition
so they can be provided | egal advice as to how t hey
interact with ACS?

MR SPUTZ: Sure. At ACS, obviously child
safety is paranount to us, and our ability to make an
early assessnent of the safety of the child, and so --
and to quickly put in services to aneliorate the issues
that potentially exist. And so, we think that it is
inmportant to do that. W think resources for attorneys
are limted. There is approximately 59,000 calls a
year to the state central registry. O that,
approximately 60 to 64 percent at |east between July
2017 and July 2018 were unfounded. So 30, little over
30 percent or so were founded, and of that a smaller
portion or actually resulted in a legal intervention in
famly court. So we wouldn't want to create a system
that inhibits our ability to make a qui ck assessnent

that overconplicates the systemwhere a |arge portion
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of the protective investigations are able to be
resol ved without |egal intervention, and to avoid
unnecessary litigation in the famly court where the
vol ume has over the years increased where there is
potential for ACS | awers to be seeking, you know,
court orders to orders to produce a child or orders to
enter hone.

HON. PETERS:. | asked the question because
sonme of the witten testinony we've been presented with
advi ses us that when experinents take place in which
parents have the opportunity to speak with an attorney
or social worker during an investigation by a child
protective agency, sonetinmes they begin to understand
what types of services are being offered and a
col | aborati ve approach takes place so that services can

be provided to the parent without the final order

petition.

Have you seen that in your experience?

MR SPUTZ: Sure. There is definitely, when
social workers, | think it was borne out in ny

testinony too, that there has been advantages of soci al
wor kers on both sides | think from ACS and the parents
who can have effective engagenent around the litany of
exanpl es that we provided that that is beneficial.

HON. PETERS: Sorry for taking up tine. One

50
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nmore qui ck questi on.

One of the things we've been | ooking at is
whet her there should be a presunption of indigency in
Article 10 cases so that everyone gets an attorney when
a petitionis filed in an Article 10 case, and then, if
the presunption is rebuttable and the parent has nobney
to hire an attorney that is fine, but at |east the
process begins with an attorney avail able from day one.

How do you feel about that?

MR. SPUTZ: | think every parent should have
an attorney when ACS is filing a case. So --

HON. PETERS: Thank you

Anyt hi ng further?

PROF. GUGGENHEI M So, thank you very nuch
for your renorse and your witten testi nony.

Am | correct by the tinme you cane to work at
ACS there were already institutional providers in New
Yor k?

MR SPUTZ: Yes.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM  You are not famliar with
the systemprior to that tinme?

(Transcript continues on the next page.)
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MR SPUTZ: Well, | entered ny work in the
Fam |y Court in 1994 with the New York City Law
Departnent and their Famly Court Division, and that was
my first job out of |law school, and I remained with them
for alnost 18 years. Wile | was not a party to an
Article 10 case, | certainly saw the progression of the
practice in Famly Court when court parts were not, you
know, particularized to a type of practice. | would have
experienced with the system before the institutional
provi ders and post.

PROFESSOR GUGGENHEI M | understand from your
testinony that you regard the quality of work that's
bei ng done in the court system as good today.

MR. SPUTZ: Yes. | have experience from 1994
to today a strengthening of the | evel of practice in
Fam |y Court.

PROFESSOR GUGGENHEI M Beyond the i nprovenents
of Famly Court itself, can you say a word to us about
your experience with the institutional providers and
their influence on practice at the next |evel up from
court. Didthey neet with you, did they influence, did
they tal k about practice and what do you think of those?

MR SPUTZ: Yes. W have work groups, regul ar
meetings at higher levels within the | eadership of ACS

with institutional providers, assigned counsel, other
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st akehol ders, practitioners within the child welfare
system

Wth respect to the institutional providers,
it's been very beneficial to have a diversity of opinion,
the issues that we all face when ACS has to intersect a
famly's life, and | think it's been very beneficial to
have that influence and, again, that diversity of thought
and opi ni on.

Qut of that, Ms. Vega testified fromRi se -- we
have i ncorporated within the ACS training Rise to cone
and present to our newly hired attorneys in order to try
to infuse sone of the views that parents experience when
they intersect the Famly Court at a vulnerable tine in
their Iife. | think a lot of those ideas cone out of
col | aboration with other practitioners and stakehol ders
in the Famly Court.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you.

PROFESSOR GUGGENHEI M | have one ot her
question, if I may. | don't knowif you're famliar wth
mat eri al that Brooklyn Defenders submitted as part of its
witten testinony, but they included sone charts that
your office produced that attenpted to conpare relative
out comes of cases between parents represented by assigned
i ndividual 18-B and the institutional providers. Do you

have any sense whether the institutional providers have
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reduced t he nunber of days that children spend in foster
care conpared to the other two?

MR. SPUTZ: | haven't reviewed what Brooklyn
Def enders submitted, so at this tine | don't feel --
woul d need to review that before comrenting.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you.

JUDGE RU Z: When you say "Rise," you nean Ri se
to come and speak to the |lawers during their training
period? Do you also do that for the CPS workers?

MR. SPUTZ: | would have to confer with the
Division of Child Protection whether or not that's taking
pl ace. Certainly sonmething that we woul d encourage and
| ook at.

JUDGE RUIZ: | think it would be very, very
i nsightful for CPS workers.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you. Thank you very nuch.

The next panel is Ms. Weir, M. Zi mrer man.

Good nmorning. Thank you for being here and for
your provision of witten testinony, as well as your
willingness to spend tine with us this norning.

s it Weir?

MS. VWEIR  Yes.

JUDGE PETERS. Ms. Weir, you want to begin?

M5. WEIR Certainly.

Good norni ng, Judge Ruiz, Judge Roberts, Judge
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Peters, and Professor GQuggenheim M nane is Rhonda
Weir. | have been practicing for 25 years, the last 17
of which as an assigned counsel 18-B attorney. | also am
an attorney for children.

JUDGE PETERS. So you serve both rol es?

M5. VEIR Yes. |In Kings County, the panel is
adm ni stered by the Ofice of Attorneys For Children.
You cannot be on the 18-B panel unless you are also an
attorney for children.

Prior to that, | also worked as an

institutional |egal services, as a technol ogy coordi nator

for Legal Services of New York. | worked in H B Law Unit
in Queens Legal Services where -- as a general practice
on housi ng defenses and so on. | was an attorney for

children at Rockland Legal Aid. M first enploynent was
the housing unit at Md Hudson Legal Services. |'ve been
on both sides of this institutional and private practice.
In the Famly Court in Kings County, |'ve also
participated in the stakehol ders neetings, in the
planning, in trying to keep the practice and the
court house running nore snoothly. To that end, enough
about ne.

In ny summary of ny testinony, | did nention to
the panel that | did have a concern that there is no

active 18-B attorney on the conm ssion. W have a wealth
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of information. There are certainly disparities from
county to county, so | think there should be nore than
one. Providing testinony is not equivalent to a seat at
the table. It just isn't. Certainly there are things
t hat happen in ternms of maki ng deci si ons where our input
woul d be i nval uabl e.

Wth respect to -- ny last word on that is that
| believe statewi de we represent fully 50 percent of the
litigants in Famly Court. W represent respondents, we
represent nonrespondents, we represent the interested
famly that conmes in, we represent siblings, adult
siblings that cone in. That kind of |egal service
provision, | think, mssing fromthe conmssion is a
| oss.

Fundi ng and casel oads. There's no question,
I'"'mnot going to beat this dead horse, we need a raise.
The rai se has not happened in 14 years. W don't get
coll ar increases. Increases and the cost of doing
busi ness has steadily gone up, the cost of rent, the cost
of our own personal expenses, housing. W have had a
nutrition off of the panel in Kings County. Part of it
is due to people retiring and the other part of it is
sone of the younger nenbers can't afford to stay. |If
they have famlies, they have insurance to pay, they have

famly to support, they have children to support, and it
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beconmes unt enabl e, unl ess you have a partner or
signi ficant other who has health insurance that can cover
you, unless you have other ways in which you' re getting
support fromyour famly. It's at its breaking point.

Kings County Famly Court is drowning in the
nunber of cases, the nunber of filings. Not just to
18-Bs. The judges, the court clerks, the court officers,
everyone. To a certain extent, the institutions are
protected because they are limted in the nunber of cases
they can take. They get a contract for X nunber of
cases. To the extent there are differences in our
practice and casel oads, they have a built-in protection.
W do not. W have to cover the courthouse in Kings
County. So that means the wi Il ful ness proceedings, the
cust ody proceedi ngs, the violation proceedings, the
Article 10 proceedi ngs, the juvenile delinquency
proceedi ngs, and now t hat we have rai sed the age, those
as well. That is our job.

We're the backbone in Famly Court

We have, as a panel -- we're small business
owners, each and every one of us. |In Kings County we're
di verse, very diverse, and we represent the people who
are comng in to the courthouse -- African-Anmerican,
H spani c, Asian, Southeast Asian -- and we also are role

nodel s for sone of the people who are comng into court.
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Qur job is to speak with our clients, to connect with our
clients; we do that well, and we do that every single
day.

We are also diverse in terns of our background.
We have district attorneys, ACS -- forner ACS attorneys.
We have attorneys fromforner institutions, the
Children's Law Center. W have police officers, police
detectives. W have social workers. W have educators.
One of our attorneys, | know, was a forner principal.
One of our attorneys is a former support nmagistrate. W
cone with a wealth. W walk on to the panel fully grown.
We don't have to have a supervisor cone in and supervise
us. We don't have to wait to consult wth other people
about a particular strategy. W do consult with each
ot her because we do have canaraderie and we use each
ot her as soundi ng boards.

Goi ng back for a second to the issue of
conpensation. Now that the increases have gone in for
t he experts, we have experienced an influx of

applications for social workers and psychol ogi sts and, |

bel i eve, doctors as well. So that increase has helped to
attract new people to the expert panel. W need a
simlar increase to the 18-B panel, which also, | think,

woul d attract nore people to the panel and help to

relieve sone of the heavy casel oads.
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As the Court is aware, we stay on a case from
beginning to end. The child support case that norphs
into a custody case that norphs into an Article 10 that
keeps going. | have clients that | have represented
t hrough all proceedings in famly court for a nunber of
years. W resolve one thing and then another issue pops
up and | resolve that, I work with the client to resolve
that as well.

| would like to say that tinmely access to
counsel is imensely critical, it's necessary. Also, the
ability to represent litigants in co-lateral proceedi ngs.
That famly asset, housing is a famly asset, public
benefits are a famly asset, nedical insurance is a
famly asset. |If our clients cannot get assistance in
those other arenas, the |loss of that asset can neld and
then result in other |egal consequences in court in terns
of how long it takes for the children to be returned to
them how long it takes for themto get safety.

Wth respect to access to experts, we have it.
| have about three social workers who are on ny
qui ck-dial list. |If they're not available, then | have a
list of social workers. Again, in Kings County we have a
list of experts that have already been vetted, that have
al ready been approved to be assigned pursuant to County

Law Section 22C. W call them we do the order, we
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provide it to the judge.

| understand that in Upstate New York they have
sonme horrible situations. | have not experienced that in
Ki ngs County, for the nost part. |If | walk in and say |
need a social worker or | need a nedical expert or |I need
a psychol ogi st on ny case, the order gets signed. | work
with that person collaboratively with the client.

In terms of whether | have a social worker on
every case, no. | have sone clients tell nme, | do not
want anot her person wal ki ng t hrough ny house. Fine, we
can work with that. For those clients that want that
person by their side, | have -- they are available to ne,
and | get them and we work col |l aboratively.

| did nmention -- and | want to | eave sone tine
for nmy associates here. Technology is absolutely
necessary to quality representation. Through it, | am
able to access the CLE trainings that | occasionally
can't make. W have lunchtine CLEs. Those are recorded,
they're upl oaded, and | can watch themat ny | eisure.

The ability to use e-mail, text nessaging, video
conferencing with ny clients, nowthat it has
proliferated to every smart phone and every tablet, is
amazing. Even with some of ny child clients, ny ol der
teenage clients, they don't want to cone into ny office,

so | Skype with them Simlarly, with ny adult clients.
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If they can't cone in because of work obligations,
because they have to pick up the kids from school,
t hey' ve al ready done the court all day and they need to
go, so they can talk later, that's the way we get it
done. | think a face-to-face neeting is critical to
attorney-client relationship, but having these tools
avai l abl e i s absolutely necessary.

So I'd like to thank the panel.

JUDGE PETERS: M. Zi mrer man, good nor ni ng.

MR, ZI MVERVAN:  Good norni ng, your Honor. Good
nmor ni ng, nmenbers of the comm ssion, Justice Peters, Judge
Rui z, Judge Roberts, Professor Guggenheim and greetings
to everyone watching via live stream

My nane is Brian Zi nrerman and today |
represent the Assigned Counsel Panel of Kings County,
but, as many of you know, ny passion for Famly Court is
| ong gui ded and directed ny view that we shoul d vi ew what
we do, not fromi ndividual prowess from an organi zati on,
but al ways through the | ens of how we can hel p everyone
who voluntarily or involuntarily finds thenselves in
Fam |y Court.

It is why | co-wote an article with the
Children's Law Center on the issue of the broken
adoptions that affect both parents and children. It's

why | amthe 18-B representation in the crossover youth
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practice nodel and why | was on the advisory board of CFR
pre-inception. Because neani ngful collaboration across
proverbial party |lines can best serve all that find
t hensel ves in need of representation. | too, like
Ms. Weir, worked at juvenile rights for 14 years. |
understand institutions fromthat tinme. One of the
reasons | left Legal Aid was because of the institutional
i ssues that | saw i npacting representation there.

| start there to highlight that we in New York
City are fortunate to have a m xed delivery systemor a
hybrid systemto represent adults and children in Famly
Court. Nonetheless, that systemcan be inproved if we
recogni ze the val ue of what we have and neke deci si ons,
and hopefully the comm ssion will do so in their
recommendati ons, to enhance what we have. Most
critically, we should fully fund and resource both
systens in a manner that recognizes that all parents,
children, and famlies were part of nothing | ess than
t hat.

The truth is that the nunber of cases in al
areas of Famly Court continue to go up, as Judge Ruiz
wel | knows, not down, and as such, nore | awers, not
| ess, are needed to properly handle the volune of cases.
Not a neeting goes by when | amnot asked if we are

getting additional |awers to staff the courts. This is
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particularly felt in the areas of custody and visitation
who, by the way, are also parents, they al so deserve the
attention of this conm ssion, donestic violence victins
also. As there are no statutory tine franes on those
cases, we find that their cases tend to | anguish and
linger far too long. Many of those cases nmorph into
neglect cases. It is critical that we | ook at the system
as a whol e.

To effectively ease the crisis requires the
panels to be able to recruit new attorneys and also to be
able to retain them That is nmuch nore difficult when
there's only been two conpensation increases in 32 years,
the | ast being in 2004. No other |egal professional or
person in Fam |y Court has not had a raise in that period
of time. Most providers have yearly increases. Sone
def enders, say, the Federal Defenders, get yearly cost of
living and adjustnents. This conponent provision, we
submt, is critical.

We shoul d never let the courts enter into the
type of crisis that we are facing on a daily basis now
when attorneys are stretched to the limt by having to
cover -- and in Kings County -- 50 parts, with an ever
I ncreasi ng nunber of cases because we don't have the
proper calibration in terns of the funding of our part of

the system Wiy that is critical is attorneys in places
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like ACS, DA's office, Children's Providers, and ot her
institutions, also | eave after a period of tinme and
expand their practice areas and diversify after a few
years. Some wi sh to becone their own bosses, they
continue to work with the famlies. It is why nost
assi gned counsel previously worked at one of the
institutional offices. They want to nove on, but they
want to stay in Famly Court because that is their
choice, that is their passion.

Institutional providers also want sone of their
attorneys to nove on, as it helps wth their budgets. As
| experienced nyself at Legal Ad, they can hire froma
13-year attorney at Legal Aid -- for instance, they could
hire 1.5 to 2 attorneys to replace those new attorneys
when the senior attorneys nove on. The original notto --
| don't want to say it's still true -- at Legal Aid is,
you |l eft with your five-year pension and you coul d open
your own practice. It helps everyone's business notto to
the extent that we | ook at funding that way.

If we can have a system where peopl e get

trained at institutions, which is part of a thing that

has not yet been addressed, is to get on the panel. It's
not a right to get on a panel, it's a privilege to get on
the panel. There's actually a fairly rigorous process

where you get interviewed wth your know edge of | aw.
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You could be a district attorney for five years, cone in,
and say, | want to work in Famly Court, but if you don't
understand Article 10, if you can't answer what a 1028
is, if you can't answer questions about extraordinary
ci rcunmst ances on a custody case, guess what, you're not
getting on the panel because we don't want people who
think that being a Famly Court |lawer is just a way to
make noney. You have to be commtted to what we do. So
there's a rigorous screening process to get on it.

The i deal people comng to us, and we often get
them are attorneys from ACS, attorneys fromthe DA s
offices, attorneys fromchildren's -- from Legal A d, and
we would relish the institution of |awers who -- our
experience is when they leave, it's not to cone continue
representing parents there. W would want themto cone,
and that's critical for a well-oiled systemis that
attorneys get trained, they practice in institutions, and
t hen they expand their horizons, and we get good
attorneys, and that requires a proper calibration with
how our fundi ng works.

That's why cost of living increases are
critical so we never find ourselves at a point where we
cannot say to an attorney you can afford increased rent,
You can afford to pay your student |oans, you can afford

to pay your health insurance if you cane to the panel.
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To attract attorneys to take on the responsibility if we
had a properly funded system

Ms. Weir is correct that | believe the
adm ni strative board of the courts recently increased,
they did increase the social worker rates, and we thank
the courts for that because that does help us alleviate
one of the issues that differentiate us.

W can go a step further on the issue of social
workers. |If the conm ssion recommends and says it's a
priority and says to its counties, to the city, that
there should be a social worker avail able at intake or on
a primary day in the Famly Court, we could have soneone
there that we don't have to go through the process of
getting a 7 to 22 order to sign or a Judicial Law 35G to
sign when we have a donestic violence victimthat needs
i mredi ate attention, we have a parent that needs
i medi ate referral for services. W do not have to have
that lag if this comm ssion thinks about how we can
equalize it for a proper delivery of services.

I woul d encourage the conm ssion to be thinking
about how we can neke it available to everyone. Sane
thing regarding ancillary services that we actually have
connections with the immgrant defense fund. W' ve been
trained by them by Joe and Mackery of the New York State

Def ender Association. W have access to get inmm grant
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help on the day that we need it, if we need to. There's
no reason why we can't tighten those services up even
nore by saying that whatever we need to do to be
practitioners, there should be no obstacles, there should
be no roadbl ocks, there should be no funding issue, no
requi renents that we cannot have them avail able to us at
t he nmonent we need them

W are the backbone or the nost critical piece
of delivery of services to Fam|ly Court because of every
kind of case we represent, fromevery letter A, AS, B, C
Db EE F, G L, N NA O P, S, U V, Z Every one of
t hose cases, we are trained to handle and when there's a
crisis in the court. Wen soneone conflicts off of a
case md-trial, just before trial, who gets called, we
get called. W get called because we have 25 years of
experi ence doing every kind of case. W can cut through
to the heart of the case in probably five mnutes or |ess
because of that experience and because of that w sdom
That is a critical part of why we are the backbone of the
court system Anything that can be done to enhance our
abilities is sonething that we want. CLEs, trainings --
| know the Bronx already has day trainings. The First
and Second Departnment. The Second Departnent. Not only
do we present our own trainings, but we sponsor trainings

of other organi zati ons and we sponsor trainings that
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every single person is invited to go to. W don't divide
it by who's the institution. Children's Law Center,
Br ookl yn Defenders, everyone is invited to a training
that is sponsored by the Appellate D vision.

I think Ms. Weir touched on continuity of
representation, but I think I just want to put it in a
context. Sonetinmes when we're on a case -- and sone
cases, unfortunately, take a long time to finish or they
have children born after and they just last a long tine,
sonetines we are the only one -- in fact, we are al npbst
the only ones in the roomthat have the institutional
menory of the case because we do not change. There are
not usually change of attorneys on our cases. There's
changes on ACS, there's changes of attorneys of the
child, sonetines there's changes in the institutiona
provi ders, sonetines not, but we all are al nost al ways
the | asting person that knows everythi ng about the case.
That is a critical piece that sonetines gets forgotten.

JUDGE PETERS: | want to nmake sure we have tine
for all the questions we have for you. Are you finished?

MR ZIMVERVAN: | will defer now.

JUDGE PETERS: M. Fisher.

MR FI SHER:. Thank you. On behalf of the Bronx
Fam |y Court Bar Association, which | ampresident, | bid

a good norning to you, Judge Peters, Judge Ruiz, Judge
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Roberts, and Professor Guggenheim and those present via
vi deo.

Asi de from bei ng assi gned counsel for children
of parents, I'ma former assistant district attorney in
t he Bronx, an agency attorney for the New York Gty
Police Departnent, a deputy director at Safe Horizons. |
am on the boards of three community-based organi zati ons,
United Bl ack Men of Queens, Center For Conmunity
Advancenent, and the Youth Defense Center. | say al
that to say that I'mnot unlike nmany people who are on
the 18-B panels. W are active in our communities, we
wor k on boards. W are not just practicing | awers. W
believe in our communities and we give back to our
communities, not just in our work but in our daily |ives
and then how we reach out and reach back to the
comunity.

Frequently, we represent and face individuals
who are di agnosed or undi agnosed with disorders in the
di agnostic and statistical manual. You conbine that wth
peopl e who are challenged with issues of sobriety,
illiteracy, immgration issues, poverty, and racism

We step into their lives when they're fighting
for the nost inportant things in their lives, their
children. W step into their |ives when they're facing

i ssues not just with ACS and Famly Court or with their
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former loved one. W step into their |ives when they
have to juggle all kinds of problens and we have to deal
with them not just in their legal issue that's before
the court that nonment, but all those other issues. And
we deal with themand we talk to them and we hel p them
try to navigate through all those difficulties, and many
of those things, we're not conpensated for since it's not
related to the case at hand, but we still do that. W
don't bill for it, but we do it. Wy? Because that's
what our clients need.

Sonetinmes our clients don't tell us about the
situation, but when we | earn, we question, How s the
housi ng, what's your inmm gration status. Hopefully, they
tell us, and if they do, we help them address them Even
if we don't have a specialty in immgration, | have
col | eagues who are imm gration attorneys, | can cal
them | can ask their advice, and frequently that's what
we do.

We reach out to colleagues in different areas
of practice because to be on the panel in the First
Departnent, you have to be a practicing | awer at |east
for three years, you have to be a trial |awer, you have
to be able to speak in front of people, and you have to
be able to relate to people. That's what our

adm ni strator has told ne when we tal k about recruiting
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peopl e and getting people onto the panel because, as we
stated before, we are at a crisis.

We're short on nunmber of 18-B attorneys
t hroughout the city. Wy? As was pointed out before:
conpensation. Coll eagues of m ne have had to | eave
because they can't afford the insurance anynore, they
don't have a significant other who has insurance, they
can't afford the rent on their rental space, because
we're all required to have our own rental space for our
clients to conme neet us, and they do come neet us in our
offices. W also -- |I'l|l speak for nyself and nmany of ny
col |l eagues -- will neet themat their hone, especially
t hose that have nmany kids and can't drag themto our
office. W neet themat their facility. W neet them at
the McDonald's. W'IlIl neet them wherever we have to neet
themto neet them W don't |let anything get in the way
of us representing our clients because they are the nost
i mportant things, and that's what we're here about today.

The life of an assigned counsel attorney is
unl i ke anybody else's that you'll hear from On any
gi ven day we can represent a parent on a child negl ect
case, |eave that courtroom and go down the hall to deal
wth the contested custody case. Leave that, go
downstairs, and go to a child support enforcenent case.

Leave that and go up to a termnation parental rights
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cases. Leave that and go handl e a juvenil e delinquency
case or a PINS case. Everything that can happen in a
courthouse in Famly Court, we deal with and on a daily
basi s.

W have nultiple trials per day. Trials -- as
many of you are aware, a trial may start today and get
adj ourned for three nonths, and we got to pick up where
we left off and keep it noving. W have to do that with
all the types of cases that we deal with, but 18-B
attorneys deal with it day in and day out.

What we do is what | call intellectual
gymmastics. W have to naster every area of the Famly
Court act. It's not like, Ch, Judge, well, 1I'm not
famliar with that. W have to be famliar with that to
be on the panel. |If we can't get certified init, we
don't handle that case. |It's the goal of each
adm ni strator to have each 18-B attorney certified in
ever yt hi ng.

| don't want to duplicate what everybody el se
has sai d.

W are a very diverse group. W have to do al
that we do and have to carry heavy casel oads. | knew
m ght be asked, so | checked in ny file cabinet |ast
night, | have 101 cases that are active, that's just in

the file cabinet. It doesn't 1 nclude cases for this week
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or cases | have on ny desk that I'mworking on, that's
just 101 that | have to get to. Just to give you the
i dea of the volune we have to deal with in the Bronx.

W reflect a broader range of races, creeds,
| anguages spoken, colors, political and sexual
identities. W speak multiple | anguages. W have
multiple cultures that we cone from W are a very
di verse group. W reflect what our conmunity | ooks |ike.

The attorneys who practice in Famly Court are,
I'd say, the brightest attorneys in the profession
because we have to know so much in so many broad areas.
It's not like you're a commercial litigation attorney and
all you need to knowis comercial |it and that's it. W
have to know everything in this and we have to know when
we don't know and when we can go on to others, especially
i mm gration, housing, what have you.

|'d be remss not to say that the court
officers, the clerks, the support services in the
courthouse are the heartbeat of the courthouse. However,
t he assigned counsel attorneys are the lifeblood. There
is no flow wi thout us.

There's the 800- pound gorilla in the roomthat
nmy col | eagues have touched upon, and that is that we're
grossly underpaid. [It's not just inpacted us, but it's

i npacted on our clients. 1'll just point out a few
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One, the substandard attorney conpensation narrows the
pool of qualified attorneys seeking inclusion into the
panel .

Two, parents will come to question systens
dedi cation to providing poor people with quality
representation when their | awers are paid conparabl e
conpensation as social workers. Not to degrade soci al
wor kers, but we had to do a whole |ot nore to becone what
we are and to maintain who we are. Parents will question
the dedication of their attorney representing them when
they know their |awer is getting paid peanuts. Parents
are forced to share their attorney with nore people and
they fear the risk of getting their personal needs
del ayed.

When any segnent of an industry is dimnished
in value, that dimnishes everyone. Attorneys seeking to
| eave their first Famly Court enploynment are disinclined
toremain in the practice as assi gned counsel or
ot herw se.

Finally, in the court's opinion in N cholson v
Scoppetta, 3 NY3d 357 in 2004, anong other things the
Court recogni zed that parents' counsel were grossly
underpaid and overl oaded with cases. At that tinme we
wer e bei ng conpensated at $40 in court, 25 out. It was

then rai sed, although the court suggested at that tine

St ef ani e Johnson - Senior Court Reporter




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N NN P R R R R R R R R R
o o A W N PP O © 0o N oo 0o A wWwDN B+ O

75

Pr oceedi ngs
raising it to 90 or nore per hour, it was raised to 75,
which it is now | did sone research and | saw t hat
United States -- the U S. inflation calculator said that
in the 14 years the cost of living went up 33.4 percent.
Yet, our conpensation has remained the sane. That is a
m sjustice, not only to the attorneys but to the people
who t hey represent.

Thank you.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you.

Questi ons.

JUDGE ROBERTS: | have a question. From
readi ng your testinony, it is clear that conpensation
needs to be raised. The question I also have that runs
through is the idea that you have these social workers
that are available. So the question | have for you and |
think you raised this, could you give ne a sense of how
long it takes you to get a social worker? | know you
said you have them on speed dial, but you have to go to
court. | heard one of your coll eagues' suggestion that
maybe soneone shoul d be avail able on an intake date. So
can you conment on whether or not you think an intake-day
soci al worker is necessary, and al so we heard from parent
advocates that had these amazing stories to tell, and I
wonder if you see themfitting into your practice at al

and i f so how.
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M5. WEIR  Absolutely. So in Kings County, on
our intake day we have four to five attorneys who are
there for the day, get paid for the day in order to do
intake. So we go frompart to part and we get assigned.
If you have a social worker on the sanme schedul e, or two,
in Kings County we m ght need two, at |east, yes, that
woul d be incredibly hel pful because they can assist with
vetting out, at the first instance, what can be done at
the noment with respect to social worker services and
whet her they need to finance or continue for a period of
time. But absolutely. There would be no downside to
havi ng a soci al worker avail abl e at i ntake.

JUDGE ROBERTS: In your current situation?

M5. WEIR  About 24 hours. The next court

date. | make two, three phone calls at nost to find out
who is available and they call ne back and say, Yes, |I'm
avai l able, or, No, I'"'mnot. The two of the social
workers that | call regularly, | have the 722C order
already filled out, | just have to put the caption in it
and print it. So it's 24 hours. | have gotten nunc pro

tunc orders.

JUDGE RU Z: M sense is, apart fromthe
increase in rate, there is perhaps thinking about having
suppl enmrental. Having to sort of reenforce and really

suppl emrent the | egal services that you provide wth, for
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exanpl e, social workers or perhaps sone of the
prof essi onal s, has there been any thought about how t hat
woul d be structured, if these social workers, for
exanple, report to the panel, accountability?

MR ZI MVERMAN. | guess since |'mthe one who
raised it as an idea, maybe | have to address it.

I haven't thought about every aspect of it. It
certainly is sonething that I don't know if
Ms. Weinberger and Ms. Schliberger or Ms. Mathis are
prepared to sinply take on. There certainly needs to be
-- we have to set up sone guidelines about the
utilization of a service such as that, because there are
many, nany people who cone into court who are in crisis
and who we need to figure out ways to prioritize which
crisis is nore.

Are we dealing with a person with a wit of
habeas corpus?

Are we dealing wiwth a woman who i s bruised that
we can send down to the Fam |y Justice Center, but we are
in court right now where we want to get things going
right then and there?

Are we tal king about the situation when we're
negotiating wwth ACSto, if the parent goes into a
programnow -- in fact, wthout nam ng nanes on a case of

yours because a client called ne on a preexisting case,
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got her into a drug treatnent programthat turned the
case around that day because she called ne and we could
execute that. That is sonething we woul d have to work
out the guidelines so we're not just saying, Hand it off
to a social worker

Alot of tines the anount of tine we spend
wor ki ng on a case increases because we want to deal with
their problem That's a critical part of an intake day,
is assessing what the issue is at that nonent, and we
don't say, You only get five m nutes because we have to
go somewhere else. W spend the tinme, that harns the
ot her judges, of course, because we're trying to do
proper representation. So a one-resource system all ows
t hat .

I think we need to start with a set of
guidelines as to what an appropriate case at intake woul d
be. W need to probably devel op an intake systemt hat
would work with the admnistrators that could be part of
bei ng on the panel that you have to agree to take sone of
those cases. So | think it's conpletely doable. In ny
opinion, it just takes the bill. O course when the bil
is sent to the State or the Gty because sone of those
cases, there's the division, as we know, about
conpensation between juvenile cases, and so sonetines it

woul d be a juvenile case where we m ght need a socia

78
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wor ker on a juvenile delinquency case. So | don't know
if it's a split cost or how we could do that. So there's
a lot of intricacies that | think we would have to work
out .

(Conti nued on the next page.)
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HON. PETERS: You think it is doable, but the
technicalities need to be worked out.

MR ZI MVERVAN:  Yes.

HON. RU Z: | have a question, because the
other thing that | heard consistently, and | certainly
appreciate in ny position is the -- how nany cases,
vol une, handl e cases in every single session fromA
through Z and doing that, um any consideration for
casel oad when --

MR. ZI MVERVAN: | think | know Ms. Wéir
mentioned it. | would join in that. | think casel oad
caps is sonmething I know in the Comm ssions' view of
what m ght need to occur, it should exist for everyone.
Casel oad caps are critical. 1've seen it in juvenile
rights, the kind of work they do since | left in,
during the crack epidemc. | had 155 cases. The
anmount of things you can do if you only have 75 cases
i ncreases. And we recognize that. So casel oad caps
woul d be a significant gain for all parents, every
litigant in famly court because, you know, as the
court knows, assigned counsel also can take private
cases. | nyself don't treat a private case any
differently than | treat an assigned counsel case.
Can't speak for everyone. M viewis what needs to be

done on that case for the next day or the next week,
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that is what takes priority.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

MR ZI MVERVMAN:  But - -

PROF. GUGGENHEIM  So -- thank you very much
for your --

MR FISHER: One thing about what the soci al
worker is -- | think that has to be addressed is they
are mandated reporters if they are, they are at the
very initial stage, there is sonme conversations that
they really need not to be in unless there is going to
be sone type of carve out or allowance that they are
not mandated to say what, when the client is telling
you what really happened, and it is not sonething that
ACS al ready knows about, that could be a problem

HON. PETERS: | think that is something you
have to work out in the practice.

MR FI SHER:. That naybe a bugaboo as far as
having themthere at the very initial stage.

HON. PETERS: Prof essor.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M Thank you for your
testi nony, your passion. It never was brought to ne as
vividly as today what it nmust feel like to be the only
prof essionals treated as you are who aren't given a
raise in a world where everybody else is, and | am

struggling at rates that are 14 years old that is
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beyond unacceptable, in ny opinion.

Un | have a question about each of your
practices.

How many of you have brought, sought an
energency stay for an appeal in any of your cases in
the | ast year?

M5. VEIR Um two. Two, maybe three.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M You went to the appellate
and saw - -

M5. WEIR  Yeah -- no. | brought two in the
| ast year, and | was a part of another one. | have ny
order to show cause to the Appellate D vision
preformatted, ready to go.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM Is that froma 1028
j udgnent ?

M5. WVEIR No. That was from a custody
I Ssue.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M Anybody appeal on a 1028
decision in the |l ast year?

MR. ZI MVERVAN: | have not had to.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M You win thenf

MR ZI MVERVAN: | win them

PROF. GUGGENHEIM | want you.

MR ZI MVERMAN:  No, but part of that, part of

w nning 1028's as we all knowis utilizing 1028's at a

82

Monica A Martinez - Senior Court Reporter




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N NN P R R R R R R R R R
o o A W N PP O © 0o N oo 0o A wWwDN B+ O

83

Pr oceedi ngs
time when you are going to wn them And that part of
client counseling, that is part of how you handl e the
case, but | have gone, | have defended cases in the
Appel I ate Di vision when ACS is brought us to the
Appel | ate Division, and |'ve handl ed ny own appeal s, as
does Ms. Weir as well. On the appellate panel, that is
anot her thing, | don't think people understand about.
Statute requires if you prevail or you are the attorney
of the child you are suppose to file the case to the
Appel l ate Division. And nost of us do, and many of us
are on both panels and many of the reporter decisions
are good case law is from assi gned counsel panel,
attorneys doi ng those appeal s.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM Um in all of your cases,
your clients have countl ess conferences, child safety
conferences, famly team conferences.

In how many of them have you assured that a
pr of essi onal wor ki ng under your gui dance appeared in
court?

M5. WEIR If | have a social worker on the
case, social worker does in fact attend that.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M How many over the | ast
year ?

M5. WEIR  How many soci al workers have | had

assigned to Article 10 cases?
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PROF. GUGGENHEIM  Article 10, famly team
conferences, child safety conferences.

M5. WEIR So, any tinme | have a soci al
wor ker on the case, social worker attends, or calls in
because | have had that situation where the soci al
wor ker has to be in court or sonewhere el se, but they
call in to participate on the famly team conference.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M And how many tinmes?

M5. WEIR  How many tinmes have -- | can't
gi ve you that nunber, that --

PROF. GUGGENHEIM M. Zi nmer man?

MR ZI MVERMAN: Li kew se, | can't give you
that nunber, but the other question you asked earlier
in the way you are asking these questions is, do you
prepare a client for the child safety, for the famly
t eam conf erence.

PROF. GQUGGENHEI M | ndeed.

MR ZI MVERMAN:  Absolutely. First of all,
nost of those cases are actually being litigated in the
per mmnency hearings, but to the extent that there are
i ssues that arise for the famly treatnment conferences,
absol utely you discuss with your client how to handl e
t hose situations.

PROF. GUGGENHEI M What percent of your cases

do you use a social worker, M. Wir?

Monica A Martinez - Senior Court Reporter




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N NN P R R R R R R R R R
o o A W N PP O © 0o N oo 0o A wWwDN B+ O

85

Pr oceedi ngs

M5. VEIR O ny Article 10 cases that | have
ri ght now, probably about half of, social workers.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM M. Fisher?

MR FISHER | would say less in ny case.
woul d say nore |ike about 10, 15 percent.

PROF. GUGGENHEIM M. Zi nmer man?

MR ZI MVERMAN:.  Probably about 15 percent, at
this point. But part of it is what the posture of the
case is and the needs of the case, because there are
limted resources in, and not every case even with an
institution has a social worker onit. So, | don't
know what their percentages are, but that is a part of
a lawer's job is to assess what is necessary.

M5. WEIR And | have had ny clients, two of
them | have right now have said | don't want one.

HON. PETERS: You nentioned that earlier. |
have a quick question for the three of you.

One of the parents who testified tal ked about
the fact that they didn't have their | awers tel ephone
nunber .

Do you provide an opportunity for your
clients to find you via telephone or e-mail you?

M5. WEIR That is al nobst unheard of in Kings
County.

HON. PETERS: The answer is, yes, you do?
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M5. VEIR M client has ny office nunber
which rings to ny cell phone, and they have ny e-nmail
and al so text ne.

MR, ZI MVERVAN:  General |y, when you appear
you say |'ve given ny client ny business card on the
record, so that is not an issue, but even if when you
don't ny business card has ny cell phone nunmber on it.
| sonetinmes use text or e-mail ne because | mght be
stuck in court. They can appreciate that.

HON. PETERS: O course, | understand.
want to find out if they can communicate with you?

MR FISHER. M card has ny address that they
go to ny office, nmy phone nunber, fax, e-nail address.

HON. PETERS: Thank you. All three of you
tal ked about the need to increase, the awareness.
can relate to that having begun a practice of | aw many
years ago and served in famly court when | was paid
$10 out of court and $15 in court. | renmenber what it
was |like to try to run a practice. A very chall enging
thing back then, and |I'm sure even nore chall engi ng
now. So | totally feel enpathetic for the situation
you are confronting.

Do you have any suggestions as to whether we
shoul d recomend an increase in the assigned counse

rate across the board, or should individuals who are
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involved in Article 10 cases which are often the nost
difficult and chall enging of the work, do you get paid
nor e?

M5. WEIR Um across the board.

HON. PETERS: Across the board.

MR ZI MVERMAN.  No question, across the board
and | think anyone who represented soneone on the
custody visitation/custody hearing m ght question which
is the nost | abor intensive.

HON. PETERS: | understand. WM. Fisher?

MR FISHER: Definitely across the board.
Every area has it's challenges. Sonme different than
ot hers, but just by the nature of the beast and all the
chal | enges that we face everyday, | can't say that one
area isn't as challenging as the next.

HON. PETERS: W are going to take a five
m nute recess, and then we wll resune the testinony.

Thank you.

M5. WEIR  Thank you.

MR. ZI MVERVAN:  Thank you.

(Wher eupon, a short recess is taken.)

(Wher eupon, the hearing proceedi ngs
conti nue.)

HON. PETERS: Good afternoon. W'IlIl follow

wth the -- we wll definitely accommbpdate each and
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every one of you. M. Burrell, Ms. Coles, Mss -- |
will say this wong, Schreibersdorf.

M5. SHAPI RO.  Schrei bersdorf.

HON. PETERS: Thank you. Ms. Shapiro.

M5. SHAPIRO. That is ne. This is
Ms. Schrei bersdorf.

HON. PETERS: And Ms. Ketteringham

MS. KETTERI NGHAM  Yes.

HON. PETERS: Think that is it. Dd | get
everybody? Wo am| m ssing?

M5. BURRELL: D d you say Ms. Col es?

THE COURT: | did not. And Ms. Coles,

Ms. Coles and Ms. New on.

MS. NEWON: Yes.

HON. PETERS: A lot of nanmes. So let's begin
with Ms. Burrell, if that is acceptable.

M5. BURRELL: We did have an order if that is
okay? W did have an order that we kind of cane up
with, if that is okay?

Can we start with Ms. Col es?

HON. PETERS:. W can do that. It mght be a
little challenging for those of us that have your
testinony in order, but.

M5. BURRELL: | apol ogi ze.

HON. PETERS: Just give ne -- let ne be
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patient. | wll be fine. Tell nme how you would |ike

to do it because those of us who are here, including

the court reporters have a different order.

So if you could give it to ne very slowy.

M5. BURRELL:
Ms. Newt on.

HON. PETERS:

MS. BURRELL:

HON. PETERS:

W were going to start with

Ms. Newton wll be first.
Then Ms. Col es.

Hold on. Just a nonent.

Center for Fam |y Representation.

MS. BURRELL:

HON. PETERS:
Second was?

MS. BURRELL:

HON. PETERS:
same institution.

MS. BURRELL:

HON. PETERS:

MS. BURRELL:

HON. PETERS:

Correct.

Ms. Newton wll be first.

Ms. Col es.

Liti gati on supervisor for the

Yes. Ms. Ketteringham
Speak a little |ouder?
Ms. Ketteringham

Thank you. Ms. Ketteringhamis

the managi ng director for the famly offense practice

for the Bronx Defenders,

MS. BURRELL:
Burrell .

HON. PETERS:

correct?

Yes. Then ne, Mchelle

Then Ms. Burrell, Neighborhood
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Def ender Service of Harlem And then?

M5. BURRELL: Lauren Shapiro.

HON. PETERS: Ms. Shapiro, famly defense
practice. And?

M5. BURRELL: Lisa Schreibersdorf, I'mthe
Executive Director.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

Ms. Newt on, good afternoon.

M5. NEWION: Good afternoon, Honorable Ruiz,
Roberts, Peters, and M. Guggenhei m

My nane is Hope Lissette Newton. [|I'ma
parent advocate with the Center for Famly
Representati on.

Bef ore ACS took ny children, | had a college
degree, a career in sports marketing and higher
educati on adm ni stration.

Know edge of experience was required for ny
job. It did not have value. Being investigated for
child abuse, having ny children renoved and reunified,

all the things that caused ne shanme and bl ane before |

cane to CFR, they all had value. | ama survivor of
donmestic violence. | ama single nother of three
children, two with special needs. | have experienced

the drama and trauma of navigating, famly, housing and

crimnal court, sonetines concurrently over a
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decade-| ong custody battle. Every court appearance,
every visit to the energency room every encounter with
teachers, therapists, every tine | had to apply for
public benefits, every tinme | was triggered when | saw
a police officer in front of nmy honme, it all had val ue.

My struggle and ny pain are all valued by the
organi zation I now work with, CFR

The experience | share with parents i s what
hel ps nme connect with them Fromthe first knock on
your door after 11 p.m wth an ACS worker
interrogating you in the presence of a police officer,
separating you fromyour children and question themin
a separate room The surreal confusion of court and
the sheer terror of not knowing who | could trust as
you try to wap your brain around what is happening.
That is what hel ps ne connect with parents in a way
that | awyers, social workers, and case pl anners cannot.
But what nmakes ne effective is not just our shared
experience, but the fact that | amarned with
information that |'ve | earned at CFR

W attend the sane training as attorneys and
social workers, and | participate in individual and
group supervision. So | amequi pped with infornmation
never had when ny children were taken. | have

know edge of the |aw, of ACS guidelines, of how court
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works. So this helps ne when | am hel ping a parent
navi gate or advocating for a parent. | ama unique
part of the team because of ny personal experience, but
| have the sane power that cones frominformation. It
is the conbi nati on of both our personal and
pr of essi onal experience that nake parent advocates
critical. | conme on cases after a | awer, socia
wor ker have di scussed the need for additional support
for a parent. Overwhel ned parents need support in
navigating nmultiple systenms. It is not uncommon for
parent to engage in services, fulfill mandates to get
the public benefits while they have cases in nore than
one court. | nmay cone in a case because the parent is
having troubl e believing they can trust the CFR team
or they are having trouble follow ng the teans advice.

Speaki ng fromexperience, it is very hard to
know who you can trust when you are going through a
child welfare case. Especially when the city took your
chi |l dren.

Before neeting a parent, | review case notes.
We have a teamneeting to discuss the case. | share ny
t hought s and ask questions before | neet the client.
Wien | introduce nyself to clients, | |let them know
that | am a parent who has been where they are.

informthemof ny role, and I |let them know t hey can
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get through this. | also ask themif they are
interested in working with ne, a parent advocate as
part of their defense team | feel it is critical to
| et the parent decide whether to include ne on the
team It is rare that parents feel heard and it feels
li ke the system does not give them any choices. That
is certainly how !l felt when it was ny case, so | |et
t hem deci de.

Thank you for this opportunity.

HON. PETERS: Thank you. Ms. Col es.

M5. COLES: Yes. 1'd like to thank the
conmi ssion for this opportunity.

HON. PETERS: Speak | ouder.

M5. COLES: | would like to thank the
Commi ssion for this opportunity, and specifically like
to address the inportance of parents having access to
counsel prior to the filing of a petition, as well as
soci al work support in that stage as well.

W would |ike to hopefully dispel what we
feel is a nyth, that early access to counsel sonehow
conprom ses child safety.

As | said, ny nane is Tehra Coles. | am
litigation supervisor at CFR  Been with CFR about
seven years representing parents in both Manhattan and

Queens, and prior to that | spent a year representing
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parents in Al bany county in both child neglect, as well
as, custody and visitation famly offense proceedi ngs.

At CFR, we generally neet our clients on the
day the petitionis filed. W neet with themas a
team a social worker and an attorney. W call that
our intake day, and together we discuss wth the parent
why they are there. Wat brought themto famly court,
what is their understanding of the safety concerns that
ACS is raising. | also speak with the prosecuting
attorney fromACS to determ ne what they are going to
ask for, are they going to be seeking to renove our
client's child, are they asking for the child to stay
hone with their client wth supervision, certain
services in place. And ny social work coll eagues often
speaks with the ACS worker who filed the petition to
determ ne what the agency's primary safety concerns
are. And during so many of these conversations, at
sone point ny social work colleague and | | ook at each
ot her and wonder how we woul d've -- whether it be a few
days earlier, few weeks earlier, a few nonths earlier.

Recently on intake, | net a nother who was
t here because ACS had concerns about the condition of
her hone. They were asking to renove her children, and
one of the reasons that they gave for why they wanted

to renove the children is because she was refusing to
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| eave the hone. They had pictures of the hone. It was
-- | could tell fromlooking at the honme that we would
probably have a hard time convincing a judge to allow
the children to return to the hone. So was eager to go
and speak with the client to really get her prospective
as to what the situation was. M social work coll eague
and | were able to speak with her, and honestly it did
not take very long for her to agree to | eave the hone.
And | don't -- tenporarily until it could be repaired,
and | don't believe it was because | told her to do
that. | think it was because she was given the
opportunity to speak to soneone who wasn't working with
ACS, who was there to, for that purpose to listen to
her, to hear her story and understand why she initially
she didn't tell ACS that she wasn't willing to | eave
t he hone.

We often | ook at cases |ike that which are
not i nfrequent and wonder why there can't be a system
put in place that allows us to have those conversations
with our clients at an earlier stage before they cone
to famly court.

We think the support would provide the parent
with four key things; confidentiality, service plan
advocacy, |egal advice, and the opportunity to speak to

sonmeone who i s i ndependent from CPS.
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First, the inportance of confidentiality.
Qur parents, the parents we represent do care. They
| ove their children. They know their children better
t han anyone el se, trying to nmake deci si ons about their
fam |y or advising them about their famly, but they
often have trouble identifying resources to keep
t hensel ves and their children safe, and they don't
trust the case workers, and case workers have their
famlies best interest at heart.

Second, service plan advocacy. In our
experi ence, when social work staff can advocate for
i ndi vidual i zed service plans, outcones inprove and in
SO nmany cases a better service plan than originally
suggested by ACS works for the famly. O ten service
pl ans coul d have prevented filings, and certainly
renoval of the children.

Third, legal advice. To give confidential --
we believe that it is in our client's best interest to
give confidential and confident |egal advice early on.
We believe it would nmean for so many parents that they
were willing to engage in services, especially where
they know that the attorneys that they are speaking
with would continue to advocate with them should a
court case begin.

Last, independent from-- independent from
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CPS. To the extent to which our clients feel
di stressed and hostility towards so many ACS workers,
even those that are well-intentioned cannot be
overstated. W work with CPS workers on a daily basis.
| ve spoken with ny social work colleague. By know
mean do we feel all CPS workers are hostile towards
their clients. Many of them have their best interests
at heart. Unfortunately, | think it was said earlier
by anot her panelist that that -- their role, because of
what they are charged with doing, it is hard for our
clients to ever trust them how they feel and why they
don't want to do a service or even that they felt
overwhel ned the day before because they are afraid it
will be used against them |In sone situations, that is
what the case worker is there to do.

So we do believe that us having an
I ndependent and giving themthat opportunity to share
their feelings with soneone and hel p them work through
it is to their benefit and would hel p them engage in
services, commt to them and have the, either result
in the children staying honme or the safe return of the
children to the hone.

We're so confident about this pre-court
access it would prevent sone neglect findings because

we' ve seen it happen.
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In 2004 and 2005, we participating in a pilot
program cal | ed Project Engage, where ACS connected
parents with CFR during the initial investigation
stages, and we wote about the project in witten
testi nony.

So we found a parent was nore wlling to
engage i n services because they had their own
i ndependent team of advocates to support them hel ping
themto decide or to push back on the seem ngly
unr easonabl e request or to understand when a request
wasn't quite as unreasonable as they thought.

The sanme is true in every scenari o where we
currently work with a parent during investigation. W
al so represent our clients who are pregnant, that have
open cases to help themprevent a filing of a new baby
or at the very |east keep that baby home with them
Clients are -- parents also reach out to CFR for
questi ons when ACS contacts themas well.

Every CFR staff nenber receives training on
hel ping a client create a realistic safety plan,
because we know that no one benefits when a child
returns to an unsafe environnment.

It is a nyth that parents under investigation
do not care about their child, their children's safety

and it is a nyth to think that advocates for parents
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don't focus onit. W know when a child is renoved
that they are often traumati zed not just by the events
that led to the renoval, but also by the renova
itself.

When children are renoved it nakes it harder
for the parent to then engage in services and nakes
them harder, nmakes it harder for themto trust the
system The children often we found suffer from
behavioral, nmental health issues, connected to that
trauma that they experience which makes renoval --
excuse ne, return to the hone take even | onger in sone
cases.

So we understand that that is not in the best
interest of our clients, and we work with our clients
and with the other players in the systemto nake sure
that doesn't happen.

So as parents' attorneys, we see these
connections and al so have a vested interest in child
safety.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

Ms. Ketteringham

M5. KETTERI NGHAM  Good norning. M nane is
Emma Ketteri nghamand |I' mthe Managi ng D rector of
Fam |y Defense Practice at the Bronx Defenders.

started in the Bronx as a defense attorney in crimnal
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court, and while | was there |I |earned very quickly
that rmuch nore inportant to ny clients than their
crimnal case with me was their famly court case
pending in the building next door. Wen | stepped into
famly court al nbost 15 years ago to represent them!
saw fam |lies broken. Children separated fromtheir
famlies when it was unnecessary. Not just from
parents, but from brothers, sisters, and grandparents.
| saw children who grew up in foster care, now parents
t hensel ves, and part of an intergenerational cycle
| osing their own children. | saw children renoved from
their honmes simlar please because a nere
m sunder st andi ng or m sconmmuni cati on during an
i nvestigation had escalated. Children |led away from
parents because a straight forward service had not been
put in place. Children remanded, just because of a
m st ake of fact or lack of context. Children in foster
care without famly to visit them because visitation
orders were not being followed. And children sent to
live with strangers, even though a willing relative sat
just outside the courtroom door.

We urge the Comm ssion to nake
recomendati ons for a nodel of parent representation
that will continue the transformati on of those days. A

transformation that has al ready begun here in New York
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GCty. This should not be about which current nodel has
nore virtue. It is ny hope that the focus will be on
re-imagi ng parent representation, so that it is what
all famlies need to succeed, and one that those of us
who work in the systemwould require if it were our
famlies on the |ine.

To that end, | join ny coll eagues across the
state in recomendi ng that parents be given access to
an attorney at the earliest possible nonent in a case,
preferably before a case cones to court and at a bear
m ni rum at i nt ake.

Qur experience tells us that parents nust be
gi ven access not just to an attorney, but to an
attorney who works with a social worker or parent
advocate who is part of the |egal team and accountabl e
to the parent. This is critical starting at intake.

What | hope we showed in our witten
testinony is howinterdisciplinary practice actually
works practically. How it nakes a huge difference at
i ntake and t hroughout a case. | hope that we
illustrated that when intake is staffed with these
teans, unnecessary fam |y separation can be avoi ded.
Courts have nore information, not |ess, to nake the
nmonunent al deci sions that they nust nmake about

children's lives everyday. More cases are resolved
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t han needl essly fought and parents are engaged,
enpower ed and supported. These teans do this in many
different ways. W go wherever we nust go. W are --
our advocates are next to us in court. W don't have
to call themto cone to cone. W don't have to ask for
an order for themto be approved. They are there with
us everyday. And sonetines preventing the horrors of
famly separation is as sinple as just correcti ng one
fact. | renmenber one of ny first cases that | had ny
client was accused of negligent for failing to give her
son nedi cation for his ADHD and severe psychol ogi ca
probl ens. ACS sought to renpve himafter a conference
where she was so anxi ous she hardly spoke, but by the
tinme the case was called, our parent advocate had an
e-mail from her son's new pediatrician confirmng that
in fact the | apse was because she had changed
pedi atri ci ans and that she now had the nedication and
that it had been adm ni stered. Based on this new
information, we were able to go to ACS, share what we
had found, and they changed their application that they

made to the court, and a boy already fragile, stayed

hore.

Much of the work that these teans do was
unabl e to be done before, and is still not done in many
areas of the state. It is the work done outside the
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courtroom door, often before a case is called. It is
often a lot of work, but as a result children who are
on the margin of placenent stay hone, and really,
really hard cases have a chance as well.

Take | ast week, we net a young woman who had
grown up in foster care, been diagnosed with depression
and di scharged to honel essness. When she gave birth,

t he agency once responsible for her well-being charged
her with negligent, and a renoval of her six day old
newborn seened inevitable. Qur young client asked, why
did they let ne see ny baby if they were only going to
take her? W asked for a second call.

(Transcript continues on the next page.)
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M5. KETTERI NGHAM  Qur parent advocate used the
| unch hour to arrange stabl e housing and nent al
heal t hcare for our young client. She secured a
not her-child programfor the famly. She visited the
programw th our client to ease her anxiety. She
contacted our client's psychiatrist and obtained a letter
regardi ng her treatnent and she schedul ed her an
eval uati on. Wen an advocate is accountable to the
parent and not just to maeking reasonable efforts,
ci rcunstances are transfornmed, risk is mtigated.

We presented the plan to ACS who agreed that
t he baby could remain hone if this plan was inpl enented
t he next day. Qur parent advocate went further than
that. She negotiated another night in the hospital so
that nother and child were not separated, even just for
one night. That work, that work that took place in just
a few hours in the busy galleys of Bronx Fam |y Court,
work that all of the providers do in New York Gty every
day on intake, prevented an unnecessary and unhealt hy
removal of a newborn from her nother

In the Rochester hearing, the question was
asked whet her parent attorneys and advocates can work in
harnmony with case planners in the best interest of
children. The experience in New York Gty is that we do

and that that work is not antithetical to the best
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interest of children. Having a social worker involved
who i s not seen by the parent as an investigator or
adversary, whether that is right or not, that is their
perception and that is what gets in the way of true
col l aboration. It |leads to better communication, nore
openness and better outcones. |t resolves an earlier

engagenent, creative problem solving, faster resolution

of cases overall, and nore court tinme for the legally
conplicated cases that require litigation. It doesn't
make it work better. It nmakes it work as it is intended

to work. The nodel insurances that we are neeting our
| egal and noral obligations, not just to parents, but
also to their children.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you.

Ms. Burrell.

M5. BURRELL: Good afternoon to the panel and
t hank you very nmuch for this opportunity.

It is clear fromthe testinony of ny coll eagues
that it is integral to the quality of statew de parent
representation that attorneys and advocates are present,
both pre-filing as well as at the intake stages, but for
continued quality parent representation throughout the
duration of the case and to ensure the best outcones for
famlies we serve across the state, access to additional

resources that enhance our ability to represent clients
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and is of the utnost inportance.

My nane is Mchelle Burrell and I amthe
managi ng attorney at the Nei ghborhood Defender Service of
Harl em of the fam |y defense practice. The practice that
I manage represents parents in Northern Manhattan. This
afternoon, | want to talk a little bit about the
resources available to the attorneys throughout the
pendency in an abuse and negl ect case.

Last week when | was about to settle into ny
| unch, one of the attorneys on ny teamcane into ny
office and sat on ny couch. She was a little distressed,
and she's a newer attorney, and wanted to strategize ways
to bal ance all of the work that she was doing. She was
litigating energency hearings for the return of children.
She was prepping neticulously for fact finding hearings.
She was filing objections for trial. She was filing
orders to show cause to get children into kinship care as
well as to expand visitation. She was al so having
regul ar communication with her clients. She was
stretching herself thin and wanted support in howto
bal ance it all

Conmpoundi ng this juggling act for this attorney
and for nmany of the attorneys and advocates on ny teamis
the reality of the racismand classismthat is apparent

just wal king into Famly Court on any given day.
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As an attorney of color and a resident of the
Har| em community, | would be rem ss not to nention the
coll ective and communal traunma that perneates the
advocate community when w tnessing the raci al
di sproportionalities on a daily basis. It really does
af fect everything that we do.

The reason | share this story is to say that
t he ongoi ng practice of working on an abuse and negl ect
case for a caseload of clients is arduous and
challenging. It is inportant to note, however, that we
do not file notions and ask for hearings to be defiant or
to be difficult. W are not seeking to clog up the court
systemwi th frivolous notions and waste the tine of our
col | eagues and the court. Mich to the contrary, we are
working to quickly restore famlies, advance cases where
children have lingered in foster care for far too | ong,
and ensure the safety of children, because we do not see
children in isolation, we see themas a part of a famly
and ultinmately as a part of a |arger community. To push
back agai nst the status quo is not easy work.

Now, the attorney that canme into ny office is
phenonenal and she is already working through the
stresses of the job and has a nunber of supports within
my office that have hel ped her along the way, but we can

al ways do better, and the types of supports that she has
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avai l able to her are not necessarily present across the
state.

Now, we have been fortunate to receive funding
that allows us to enploy nmany attorneys, attorney
supervi sors, social workers, social work supervisors,
parent advocates, paralegal, and MDS, but our nodel can
still be inproved.

If this commssion is |looking to inprove the
guality of parent representation across the state,
addi ti onal resources for attorneys and out-of-court
advocates have to be a big part of the equation. O
course ny coll eague will speak nore on what reasonabl e
casel oads m ght ook like but there are other resources
necessary as well.

Across the state there nust be better access to
expert testinmony froma variety of professional fields
that can keep the court up to date on all of the | atest
scientific advances and theories, and that theory
i ncludes the scientific theory around drug and al cohol
abuse, the use of psychotropic nedications for parents
and for children, parenting with nmental illness, donestic
vi ol ence, as well as non accidental trauma to children.
We need the judiciary to be nore nalleable and wlling to
chal |l enge commonly held beliefs so that we aren't

appl yi ng archai c standards of what constitutes a safe
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envi ronnment for children.

In order to ensure the quality of parent
representation across the state, parent attorneys need
nore access to resources that can support thriving
appell ate practices. Wiile | can appreciate the pressure
and tinme constraints of the judiciary with many cases and
not enough tine to hear them that does not always create
t he best atnosphere for thoughtful decision making.

When erroneous deci sions are made, our
attorneys at ny office are routinely seeking
interlocutory appeals that can change the entire
trajectory of the case. Nowhere was this nore apparent
than in the case of our client who had a particularly | ow
| Q and was seen by ACS as being unable to parent by
virtue of that fact. Upon the application of our NS
attorney working on the case and in conjunction with the
significant work of the social worker fromour office
assisting our client over the course of the hearing to
get the nental health services, including nedication
managenment and therapy, an emergency hearing comrenced.
We presented ways and suggestions that ACS coul d support
safe reunification.

At the conclusion of the hearing, our
application was denied. W then went to the Appellate

D vision and the appell ate judge was very displ eased t hat
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services for the famly to mtigate the risk hadn't even
been tried. The appellate judge stayed the order and
i nt ensi ve si x-hour day honenmaki ng services were put in
pl ace, as well as preventive services, and ny client is
honme with her client today.

In New York City, additional supports to
conti nue our Appellate practice is necessary, and
t hroughout the state resources should be provided to
support appellate practice of attorneys, especially to
those in rural and renote communities. It is clear that
supporting attorneys and advocates throughout the
pendency of the case is integral to assuring quality
representation of parents.

Addi ng additional resources to counties across
the state for nore social work staff, nore attorneys
nore resources to adequately litigate the cases
effectively in the child courts and in the appellate
courts wll ultimately provide the best franmework for the
court to ensure that famlies are reunified, children are
kept safe, and that the court has the best information
possi bl e to make deci sions that affect our communities.

Thank you.

JUDGE PETERS: Ms. Shapiro.

M5. SHAPIRO Yes. W've saved the ol dest for

| ast .
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|'ve been representing parents in Famly Court
for 25 years. And since 2007 when New York City first
created institutional parent providers, ny office al one
has represented al nost 11,000 parents in Kings County
Fam |y Court.

During this very sanme period, the foster care
popul ation in New York City has dropped dramatically from
al nrost 17,000 children to under 9,000, which we think is
a part due to our advocacy. That's because our offices
achi eve the nost striking results by preventi ng hundreds
of children fromever entering foster care or naking
t hose stays very short by aggressively litigating
energency hearings at the start of the case.

Just last year, for exanple, we litigated
energency hearings involving 500 children and we won
two-thirds of them reuniting those famlies or keeping
t hem t oget her.

We al so reduced the anount of tine that
children spend in foster care by actively litigating
per manency and di spositional hearings and through our
robust notion practice.

We regularly file notions for unsupervised
visits for services needed for reunification for trial
di scharge and for notions to end supervision over

famlies, and these notions work in speeding up
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reuni fication

We al so shorten the length of Article 10
proceedings by filing and winning notions to dism ss
cases where ACS has not all eged cause of action or where
the aid of the court is no |onger required.

We currently represent 3,000 parents in Article
10 cases. Over tine, our caseloads have steadily
i ncreased because of how long Article 10 cases | ast and
al so because of the surge in new filings over the |ast
two years. W sinply cannot acconplish the results that
we' ve been able to achieve wthout the necessary
resources as well as sufficient advisory and
adm ni strative support.

| nostly want to tal k today about our request
OCA assi st us in managi ng attorney casel oads. Very
briefly, because the issue of supervision was nentioned,
I just want to say that supervision is actually very
essential to our effectiveness in providing high-quality
representation to our clients.

First of all, we are there when our attorneys
are at energency hearings and their clients are | ooking
for them |, as the director, speak to clients every day
when they can't find their attorneys, and try to help
t hem get answers to their questions. W also, as

supervisors, step in to do hearings if the attorney is
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out sick so that we can nake sure that the hearing isn't
del ayed, which is really inportant given what's going on
in court these days. W also provide continuity to our
clients because our supervisors are very, very famliar
wth their cases. And when an attorney | eaves or goes on
parental |eave, we can step in. In fact, |I'm
representing sonebody right now where soneone is on
parental |eave and | did the 1027 hearing in 2007.

Today | want to talk to talk nostly about
casel oad. When casel oads are too high, attorneys can't
do the forward thinking in an aggressive notion practice,
which is what really results in shortening the tine the
children spend in foster care and shortening the tine to
resol ve cases.

Both crimnal attorneys and attorneys for
children in New York State have casel oad caps, parent
attorneys do not, and we are urging OCA to set casel oad
caps for parent attorneys and we believe that woul d nake
a significant difference in assuring that adequate
resources are provided for this work.

Casel oads and Article 10 cases cannot be
measured in the sanme way that they are in other areas of
practice. In Article 10 cases, one client does not nean
one case. Each client has an Article 10 case, usually

i nvol ving several petitions and several children. Oten,
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each of those children have their own uni que needs.
Rel at ed cases are often filed in Article 10
petitions involving interimappeals, newborn petitions,
violation petitions, custody petitions, famly offense

petitions, attorney petitions, and term nation of
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parenting rights petitions, all of which that may invol ve

different parties than an Article 10 case and would

requi re an additional anmount of work. And these multiple

cases nust be consi dered when determ ning casel oad caps.

Casel oad caps al so nmust consider the | ength of
Article 10 cases. Unlike crimnal cases which concern
one point in time, Article 10 cases work in realtine.
Changes in life circunmstances for parents, for foster
parents, and for children, such as death, illness, |oss
of a job or housing, or a birth of a, child, all result
inlitigation of these cases. Custody battles and
appeal s, an ever battling process in the court, prolong
our cases. Despite our individual and stunning efforts
to expedite cases, the average |l ength of our cases is
over two years and many | ast substantially |onger.

A der cases often require nore work than newer
cases. These are the nost conplicated and chal |l engi ng
cases that we have. These are the cases of extrene
poverty, of serious nental illness or cognitive

disability, children with special needs, and parents who
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were in foster care thenselves, to nane a few. In these
cases, we appear in permanency hearings every six nonths.
These hearings can be extensive, especially when we are
seeking famly reunification or unsupervised visits over
t he agency's objection, or there are children with many
different statuses. Although the Famly Court Act
requi res pernmanency hearings to be conpleted within 30
days, permanency hearings are adjourned for nmany nonths
at atinme and require nultiple half hour appearances.

Crim nal casel oad standards are based on the
nunber of new cases that an attorney is assigned in a
year. That intake nodel works well where npbst cases are
resolved within a year, but Article 10 cases | ast nuch
| onger. And with consistent intake, attorneys casel oads
continue to Rise. Therefore, it is inperative that any
standard that is devel oped nust consi der the pending | oad
of the office in addition to the annual i ntake.

W firmy believe that a | awer doing these
cases should have no nore than 50 or 60 pending clients
at atinme. Wth higher casel oads, attorneys spend all of
their time litigating energency hearings, which is
i nportant, dealing with client enmergencies, responding to
notions, and spending all of their tinme in court while
dealing wth enotionally wenching cases. This type of

practice is just not sustainable, causing caseloads to go
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even further.

BDS is recommendi ng that the office of |ndigent
Legal Service be tasked with creating case | aw standards
for providing the parent representati on, and we wel cone
the opportunity to contri bute our expertise and
experience to working with the office, as well as OCA, on
this very inportant process.

Thank you.

JUDGE PETERS: Thank you.

Am | correct you're available for questions or
did you want to testify as well?

M5. SCHREI BERSDORF: | just wanted to nmake one
statenent. | amthe executive director of Brooklyn
Def ender Services, and we handle both crimnal and famly
cases as well as other types of matters.

| really wanted to just directly address the
history a little bit of the crimnal case caps and how
the inplenentati on of those case caps has been done
t hrough OCA, and that is why we're recomrendi ng ri ght now
that that may be the nodel that is recommended for
famly.

I just want to start by saying the beginning of
the crimnal case caps was the Judge Kaye conm ssion.
want to say that this comm ssion has a |ot of value in

this sphere. It took a very long tine after the Judge
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Kaye comm ssion recommended a | ot of changes in
representation of indigent defense, but it was the
beginning and it was effective. | just want the
commi ssion to know that we really appreciate the
attention, the tinme, and I too think this will be the
begi nning of a sol ution.

In the beginning, there was a statute that was
passed that provided case caps on crimnal cases and
tasked OCA with creating adm nistrative order that would
be the specific case caps, which was done very
effectively and very efficiently by Judge Littnman when he
was adm nistrative judge. That was phased in between
2010 and 2014, and it was only applicable to New York
Cty. It was a very effective case cap because we were
al ready com ng froma place where we were so far behind
that it took us a while as we phased in to be able to
reach those case caps. Subsequently, the office of the
I ndi gent Legal Services was forned.

OCA has been hel ping us neet those case caps
financially. |ILS has really been instrunental in
creating robust and really rich standards that go beyond
just a nunber of cases. They've been really successful
in working on eligibility standards, which we touched on
earlier, which | think are integral and are very

I mportant relating to who gets representation, when their
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representation occurs, sonething |ike a presunption.
Because the delays in getting the first appointnment are
very substantial, especially around the state -- that's
al so very inportant. They have al so been very integral
in bringing defenders around the state to tal k about
I ssues in ways that we can inprove the quality of
representation that is provided, which | think a
conversation needs to happen beyond just addi ng case
caps.

You have a rich group of very experienced
attorneys here and parent advocates and social workers
that can give you an insight about what an office
resource can do.

| can tell you that we really are overburdened.
Qur casel oads are high, even with, | think, the Cty's
attenpts, really, | think, very good attenpts, to try to
fund this properly.

I think ILSis a very inportant institution
right nowin the state in terns of having i ndependence
fromthe court system in ternms of -- as attorneys we
shoul d have an i ndependent group overseei ng what we do
and we really support working with them

I just want to add one nore thing about the
resources. W, as providers, many of us, also have not

just social workers, we al so have housing attorneys,
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imm gration attorneys, education attorneys, and other
resources within our offices that work directly with
clients. Housing is the main thing people need in order
to get their kids returned. There are ways in which
institutional providers can provide services that may not
be accessible wthin the context of the Assigned Counsel

Panel .
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But, having said that, | was in a neeting this

week, |I'mthe chief defender of the group for ILS and it
was a neeting about assigned counsel around the state.
There are jurisdictions in the state that assigned
counsel is the only nethodol ogy for providi ng defense
attorneys and there are ways in which ILS, wth funding,
can provide all of these resources to assigned counsel,

i ncludi ng regional offices and other kinds of ways in
whi ch they can receive training. There was talk of
stipends for people to go to training so they don't have
to lose their hourly rate and other ways in which ILS is
a very neani ngful agency and should be the one tasked

Wi th ascertaining what the proper field should be and
recomend t he casel oads.

| just want to say one nore thing about OCA.

We | ove working with OCA, they have been fantastic. They

have been great. | think with the shortages and the

funding within OCA, it is alittle bit of a troubling
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dynam c to see the courts have to close at 4:30 every day
because they can't afford to pay overtine and al so see
that they are funding | egal services. Although | do
bel i eve that we hope the efficiency of the court, | hope
t hat having the new fundi ng com ng through the governor,
t hrough the executive budget, being funded through an
executive agency, | think probably in the long run is
really the best way to go about this.

Thank you.

JUDGE PETERS: Questions.

JUDGE RU Z: | haven't heard any di scussion
about services and how you deal with services in all the
mul ti -l anguages that are spoken in New York City. |
haven't heard anyone, even the w tnesses, address that
and |'mcurious to know.

M5. BURRELL: Well, we try to address that
internally by ensuring that every client has an attorney
that speaks the client's | anguage. Cbviously, we can't
do it for every single one, but we do have attorneys that
speak Arabic, Bengali, Udu. W have |like twelve
attorneys that speak Spanish. Arabic, Russian -- al nost
everything. Creole, we have a Creol e-speaki ng soci al
wor ker and attorney. W've really stressed this as being
critical because we've observed how difficult it is for

clients to get services that are not in their |anguage.
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And, of course, connected to this, staff have
rel ati onshi ps with organi zations in the community.
Mandarin as well. They connect with comrunity-based
agenci es that speak Mandarin. W also worked with ACS
around this issue.

Many of our clients, unfortunately, do not have
case workers that speak their | anguage and we advocat ed
for a change of that. There's been -- that hasn't
happened. | understand that they can't provide it for
certain | anguages, but we've never been able to
under stand why i n Spanish, for exanple, when there's so
many case workers -- when there's so many people in the
city that speak Spanish, why they couldn't pair people
up. We've seen the dangers that conme from having case
wor kers that don't speak your | anguage. |In fact, a |ot
of cases result from m scomruni cati on around | anguages
with hospitals or caseworkers.

JUDGE PETERS. Thank you. Thank you all very
much. Incredibly interesting. Really appreciate it.

The final panel, M. Kryszko and Ms. Erikson.

Good afternoon. Tell us how to say your nane.

M5. KRYSZKO. Kryszko.

Good afternoon, Justice Peters, Judge Roberts,
Judge Ruiz, and Sir GQuggenheim M/ nane is Barbara

Kryszko and |I'man attorney for Sanctuary For Famlies,
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the | argest nonprofit organi zati on of New York State
dedi cated exclusively to the needs of survivors of
domestic violence as well as sex trafficking. W are
very grateful for this opportunity to testify before the
conmi ssi on today.

Sanctuary Center For Battered Wnen Services is
the | argest dedi cated providers, they set up | egal
services for victins of donestic violence, and our
attorneys advise and represent clients in famly |aw
matters in the Famly Court, Suprene Court, and the
I ntegrated donestic violence courts in all five boroughs
of New York City.

So, first, as an agency serving donestic
vi ol ence survivors, one of our overarching concerns is
that all counsels for parents are well-trained in the
| egal and ot her issues involving donmestic violence. So
assi stance by skilled and know edgeable famly | aw
attorneys is fundanental for donestic violence survivors
to obtain critically inportant | egal renedies and reduce
donestic viol ence recidivism

Wi | e donestic violence survivors are
frequently petitioners in famly offense matters in
court, they al so appear as litigants in a variety of
other famly court proceedi ngs, such as respondents in

custody cases or nonrespondents in neglect matters.
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Attorneys nust have an understandi ng of the dynam cs of
domestic violence and screen all of their clients to
ensure that victins are identified and that safety
concerns are addressed. There are instances in which
i nvol venent in Fam |y Court proceedi ngs involve essenti al
protection for survivors and their children, while in
others it increases the safety risk. That's why it's
critical for attorneys to understand the tactics of
perpetrators and have the ability to nake individualized
assessnents of dangerousness and address these safety
I ssues in court.

It's also inperative that attorneys are
well-trained in the law pertinent to famly | aw cases
referring to donestic violence. For instance, the
various fornms of relief in famly offense proceedings are
of ten unused. That may be the court granting a tenporary
order of child support, if it's safe, or prohibiting
various forns of cyber sexual abuse, one of our | atest
concerns that we're trying to address through an Order of
Protection at the tine.

The New York State Court System can play an
inportant role, we think, in ensuring that attorneys are
ei ther on the Assigned Counsel Panel or at an
institutional provider to receive ongoing specialized

training and have access to other resources and | ega
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materials that are key to representing victins of

donmesti ¢ vi ol ence.

(Conti nued open the next page.)
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M5. KRYSZKO Wil e survivors are frequently
petitioners in famly offense matters, of course, they
al so appear as litigants in a variety of other famly
court proceedings, such as respondents in custody
cases, or non-respondents in neglect matters.

Att or neys nust have an understandi ng of the
dynam cs of donestic violence and screen all of their
clients to insure that victins are identified and that
safety concerns are addressed.

There are instances in which involvenent in a
fam |y court proceedi ngs provides essential protection
for survivors and their children, while in others it
i ncreases the safety risk. So that is why it is
critical for attorneys to understand the tactics of
perpetrators, and have the ability to make
i ndi vidual i zed assessnents of dangerousness and assi st
survivors in being proactive in addressing safety
I ssues in court.

It is also inperative that attorneys are well
trained in the law pertinent to famly | aw cases
i nvol vi ng donestic violence. For instance, the various
forms of relief available in famly offense proceedi ngs
are often underutilized, fromthe court granting
tenporary child support to prohibiting various forns of

cyber sexual abuse, one of our |atest concerns, in a
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tenporary order of protection.

The New York State Court System can play an
inportant role in ensuring that attorneys who are
ei ther on the assigned counsel panel or at an
institutional provider receive ongoing specialized
training and have access to other resources and | egal
materials that are key to representing victins of
donesti c viol ence.

As st akehol ders holders in the court system
i ncl udi ng organi zati ons such as Sanctuary, are a
resource for providing such advanced trainings for
ot her followup and concerns in donestic violence.

Next, al though | know you've heard it about
18B assi gned counsel, but we also are very nuch
advocating to insure that adequate fundi ng and access
to assigned counsel is part of -- that is inperative
for donestic violence victins.

Donmestic violence victins rely on assi gned
counsel to protect their rights in nany cases and
increase in 18B funding is essential to raise the
current counsel rates and also to provide ancillary
servi ces, conprehensive ancillary services.

Al so, we want to insure that eligibility
criteria provide -- are such that provide

representation to all of those who are financially
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unabl e to obtain counsel.

So, as the conm ssion knows and heard, the
right of pay for court appointed attorneys has been
shocki ngly | ow and hasn't changed for years.

We believe that it should be significantly
i ncreased and inplemented with an annual cost of |iving
adjustnent to attract and retai n experienced and
qual ified attorneys. D mnishing nunber of panel
attorneys has had an i npact on donestic viol ence
survivors. Cases are delayed for appointnent of
counsel for either the victimor for both parties.
Tenporary orders can be entered or denied in the
absence of counsel to argue for safe and appropriate
relief.

If the rates were significant increased and
nore 18B attorneys were avail abl e, attorneys would be
able to lower their casel oads and tine spent in court
and devote nore tine to neeting clients and addressi ng
urgent and conpl ex issues.

I ncreased funding is al so necessary to
adequately fund ancillary professional services. Um
for instance, court appointed attorneys should be
provided with access to i medi ate on-call | anguage
interpreters to speak wwth clients.

There is a trenendous advantage in providing
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effective representation to donestic violence survivor
in the mdst of energency by comrmunicating i mediately
rather than trying to schedule an interpreter for a
| ater date.

And further, even after the recent increase
the rates for various professionals are still |ow and
difficult for instance to retain a social worker with
rel evant | anguage skills, or other expert w tnesses.

In addition to increasing rates for assigned
counsel, it is also inperative that the financi al
eligibility criteria used in famly | aw cases i ncl ude
all lower incone parents.

Thr oughout New York City, and even wthin the
sane courthouse, jurists apply inconsistent standards
in determning financial eligibility for court
appoi nted counsel. This not only raises concerns that
victins of donmestic violence are not assigned
attorneys, but that both parties are denied counsel,
and thus unaware of their rights and options, and which
can result in the delay of proceedings or of reaching
an effective solution of their pendi ng cases.

We find in cases of donestic violence,
abusers often limt the econom c opportunities of their
victins such as by prohibiting them from worKking,

advancing their education, and having eligibility
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st andards whi ch account for a variety of financial
constraints is crucial as donestic violence survivors
of ten have nobdest incones, very limted assets, or
significant debt.

For instance, victinms naybe the co-owner of a
marital honme but due to relatively lowincone, and a
spouse's financial excuse for nonpaynent of the
nort gage, the home maybe at risk or in foreclosure
proceedi ngs and thus not a financial asset to the
litigant and sonething that the court coul d consider.

Finally, there is also a critical need
anongst litigants in famly | aw proceedi ngs to have
| egal representation in related | egal and
adm ni strative proceedi ngs. For donestic violence
victinms, obtaining | egal advocacy or representation for
matters involving i nmgration, housing, and public
benefits is essential to insuring their safety or being
able to care for their children. There are trenendous
econom ¢ advantages al so. For instance, in assisting
victinms in maintaining their housing and avoi di ng
having to enter a donestic violence or honel ess shelter
if that is what is safe for them \Wile famly |aw
attorneys should not be expected to take on such
additional matters, assigned attorneys for exanple

could and should have a role in making referrals, and
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coordinating wth other | egal counsel to achieve the
best result for clients. Current referral resources
could be utilized for this purpose, or the New York
courts, New York State court systemcould create a
resource gui de of |egal services for |ow incone
litigants.

In conclusion, the Fam |y Courts of New York
Cty and State have played an inportant role in
decr easi ng donestic viol ence and hel ping victins and
their children maintain their safety, but we encourage
and reconmend that the conm ssion take these additional
steps to further provide high quality | egal
representation for survivors of donestic viol ence.

Thank you.

HON. PETERS: Ms. Erikson, would you able to
summari ze your testinony for us to insure that --

M5. ERIKSON: | was just going to say that |
intend to do that.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

M5. ERIKSON: | do not intend to tal k about
nmy qualifications and I don't intend to repeat anything
unnecessarily. | just want to say that it is not a big
surprise your Honors, there aren't enough attorneys on
t he assi gned counsel panel. Wat needs to be done has

al ready been said, increase hourly rates, |ower case
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| oads. The | egislature just gonna have to bite the
bullet. It is just going to have to do that.

What is going to push the legislature to do
that? Well, | got a wonderful gift yesterday when
found out that congress has passed House Congressi onal
Resolution 72. This was advocated for, since, well,
before 2017, and it was just passed Septenber 25th.

What does this do? It is the concurrent resol ution of
congress, quote, "that child safety is the first
priority of custody and visitation adjudications, and
the state courts should inprove adjudications of
custody where famly violence is alleged.” | brought
copies for all of you, along with ny testinony and I
think that this is going to be a big help.

Twenty years ago, nore than 20 years ago, the
house passed a simlar concurrent resolution which | ead
to the passage of the law in New York that now requires
courts to consider donmestic violence in custody cases.
Al states now have these statutes. Qurs is not the
greatest. It has been inproved a little, but it is
still not the greatest. A lot of states have
presunption agai nst custody to abusers. But at |east
we did that, and we did it as a result of a simlar
concurrent resolution of congress.

What | want to talk nostly about is the
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probl em |' m ski ppi ng here. The problem of abusers
still getting custody and how we can deal with that.
The survive superior sonetinmes even when she has
counsel, let ne use she because they are nostly wonen,
abusers sonetines get sole custody. He can afford an
attorney who can argue that the nother has alienated
the children fromthe dad, is in-neshed with the
children, is nentally ill. He can go on and on. He
can al so be very good at charm ng custody eval uators
into believing that the, the father's an innocent
victimof false allegations and wongful elimnation.
One custody eval uator actually opined the father coul d
not possibly be an abuser because he was CEO of a | arge
corporation. That was prior to the 2016 presidenti al
el ections.

Now, the nother on the other hand usually
havi ng been abused for years often has PTSD
depressi on, anxiety disorders, and | ooks pretty bad to
the judge, to the evaluator, the attorney for the
child. She also has no funds to hire an expert.

Consequently, some abusers get sol e custody,
and the New York | aws that have put barriers in the way
of abusers getting custody have often fail ed.

Even if all 18B attorneys were trained in

donestic viol ence as Barbara has urged, urging that the
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| egi sl ature authorize themto represent | ow income
litigants in at least two types of cases where they are
not now aut hori zed. You know what Section 262 covers.
It does not cover --

HON. PETERS: Wat two sections are those?

M5. ERIKSON: Section 262 of the famly court
act authorizes --

HON. PETERS:. | know Section 262. You said
you want counsel to point to --

M5. ERIKSON: Two are child support and
di vor ce.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

M5. ERIKSON: Child support for | ow wel conme
custodi al parents so parents and children won't starve
or be evicted. And especially crucial for custodial
parents who are survivors of donestic violence because
abusers are often quite expert in the art of hiding
their incone and assets. This is especially
probl ematic with custodi al parents who are not marri ed
to the abuser because she never filed tax returns with
hi m

Second, attorneys are needed to represent |ow
i nconme divorce litigants on all divorce issues, not
just custody and donestic abuse. It nust be al

i ssues. The financial issues are extrenely inportant
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and they are all intertwined with the custody.

HON. PETERS:. Coul d you conpl ete your
testinony, please. |I'msorry to rush you

MS. ERI KSON:  Yes.

HON. PETERS: We've overstayed our tinme in
the courtroom | do want to nmake sure the nenbers of
t he panel have the opportunity to ask questi ons.

M5. ERIKSON: | just wanted to give an
exanple of a divorce a few years ago in which an
excel | ent assi gned counsel was court appointed for
custody and order of protection at the beginning of the
litigation. The child later, not to nmuch later
reveal ed the father had been abusing her, but the
abuser mani pul ated child protective services into
bel i eving the nother had brai nwashed the child into
meki ng fal se allegations. She was charged with
negligent. She |lost her job which invol ved working
wth children. Gkay. Al this financial stuff is
com ng up. Father got custody tenporarily. She got no
visitation even for nonths, and then supervised. Now,
after five years of litigation, nomfinally got her
child back, but in the neantinme the child had been
further abused by the father. The outconme of the
di vorce was one, no spousal support after a marriage of

nore than a decade. Two, father no |onger -- nother no

134

Monica A Martinez - Senior Court Reporter




© o0 ~N oo o b~ w N

N N N N N NN P R R R R R R R R R
o o A W N PP O © 0o N oo 0o A wWwDN B+ O

135

Pr oceedi ngs

| onger on father's health insurance and couldn't afford
i nsurance. Three, child support is mninmal. Four, no
order of protection. And, five, and this is so
di sgusti ng, although the husband was ordered to share
his retirenment assets with the wife, he noved them
around into, to hide themfrom her, and as yet, | think
it is ten years later, she still doesn't have qualified
donmestic relations order for her share of the
retirenment benefits. Now, the child is in college.
Fat her shoul d be spending, actually giving nore in
child support. However, he has petitioned to end his
child support application because the child doesn't
want anything to do with him No surprise, right?
Mother is not entitled to court appoi nted counsel for
this. W can and should do better for these famlies.
W may need to set up a panel for court appointed
attorneys for divorce because nost of court appointed
counsel are working in the famly court.

Fortunately, there is sone novenent in this
di rection of appointing for divorce cases. There is a
bill in the city counsel that --

HON. PETERS: |'ve seen your testinony. |
read that.

M5. ERIKSON: Yes. But it is needed all over

the state.
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Thank you.

HON. PETERS: Thank you. Questions?

| have one question. You nentioned that
judges inply inconsistent standard in deternining
eligibility for assigned counsel and we've seen that
happen, and | wonder whet her you woul d suggest that
| egi sl ation be enacted with soneone other than the
judges determne eligibility, is that something you' ve
t hought about ?

M5. KRYSZKO. | guess | haven't. |'m not
sure, your Honor, what you nean by others wth --
soneone el se in the courthouse?

HON. PETERS: Soneone else with eligibility
ot her than the judge assessing eligibility.

M5. KRYSZKO: | think perhaps ny only caution
is that would that be an inquiry that really gets out
all of the information and while as an attorney nyself
| rarely object to the other party getting an assi gned
counsel, except if you have information from your
client where you think that they really are a | ot,
significantly over the eligibility you may -- | raise
it to the court, the court nay want to also inquire
because ny client says they have their own business,
significant incone, and I'mnot sure if another

procedure would have all the information as the court
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does at that nonent.

HON. PETERS: Thank you

M5. ERIKSON: May | address that, your Honor,
because | work in Nassau and Suffol k, and | don't
renmenber which one or both has a systemwhere there are
clerks who neet with the client and get their financial
information and hel p the judges to nake that deci sion.

HON. PETERS:. Thank you. Thank you both very
much.

HON. RU Z: Thank you.

HON. PETERS: Thank you all for com ng today.
We so appreciate the tinme you' ve taken, the information
you provided to us, and believe ne we wll seek to
consi der each and everything that you've shared with
us.

Thank you.

(Wher eupon the hearing concl uded.)
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